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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549  
______________________ 

FORM 6-K  

REPORT OF FOREIGN PRIVATE ISSUER  

Pursuant to Rule 13a-16 or 15d-16 of the  
Securities Exchange Act of 1934  

For the month of: June 2007  

Given Imaging Ltd. 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in charter)  

  

Hermon Building, New Industrial Park, Yoqneam 20692, Israel  
(Address of principal executive offices) 

 
     Indicate by check mark whether the registrant files or will file annual reports under cover Form 20-F or Form 40-F.  

Form 20-F   X         Form 40-F __  

     Indicate by check mark whether the registrant by furnishing the information contained in this Form is also thereby furnishing 
the information to the Commission pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  

Yes __                         No X  
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EXPLANATORY NOTE 

      On or about June 21, 2007, Given Imaging Ltd. sent to its shareholders of record copies of its 2006 Annual Report to 
Shareholders and its Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Statement for a meeting to be held on July 18, 
2007, in Israel. A copy of the Annual Report is attached to this report as Exhibit 99.1. A copy of the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Statement is attached to this report as Exhibit 99.2.  
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SIGNATURE 

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
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 GIVEN IMAGING LTD.
 
 

Date: June 22, 2007 By: /s/ Ido Warshavski 

 Name:  Ido Warshavski  
 Title:  General Counsel & Corporate  
  Secretary  



  

EXHIBIT INDEX 

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Form 6-K: 

 

Given Imaging–6-K 
Command Financial Press (49097)

Saved: 06/21/2007-14:07:34 • Printed: 6/22/2007-04:48:36 
W:\OTHER (A to M)\49097_Given Imaging\Edgar\6-K\c49097_6k.htm

Sequence: 5 
Rev: 1

Exhibit Description
99.1      Glossy Annual Report to Shareholders 
 
99.2      Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Statement, dated June 21, 2007. 
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Select Financial Data            
             

Year ended December 31    2004   2005    2006    

    (in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except per share data)   

Revenues    65,020   86,776    95,029    

Cost of revenues    17,734   22,070    24,154    

Gross margin    72.7%   74.6%    74.6%    

Total operating expenses    (46,791)   (60,527)    (77,570)   

Operating profit (loss)    495   4,179    (6,695)    

Net profit (loss)    2,888   6,343    (1,508)    

Diluted profit (loss) per ordinary share   0.10   0.21    (0.05)    

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities   80,861   87,020    96,524    
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Dear Shareholders: 

We made great strides in 2006 fulfilling our vision of offering physicians a 
platform of products - PillCam SB, PillCam ESO, PillCam COLON and 
Agile patency - that provide a complete, internal view of the GI tract in the 
most patient-friendly means possible. At the same time, we transformed 
Given Imaging into a multi-product, globally-focused organization 
operating in the three largest markets – the United States, Europe and 
Asia/Japan. 

In addition to expanding our product line, we increased international revenues as a percentage of total 
revenues. Sales of PillCam SB outside of the United States increased by a solid 25% over last year. Global 
expansion represents a critical part of our growth strategy and we expect our international business to 
contribute an even greater percentage of our financial performance in 2007. 

We are pleased to announce that we have just received approval to sell and market PillCam SB in Japan – one 
of the largest healthcare markets in the world. This is an important milestone for Given Imaging and one of 
my top priorities since joining the company one year ago. 

Solid Financial Progress 

We made solid financial progress in 2006. Most importantly, after one quarter of negative non-GAAP results, 
we restored the Company to profitability as of the second quarter and ended the year with non-GAAP net 
income of $3.7 million. We are confident that we have built the necessary foundation to return to top-line 
growth of more than 20% for the years to come. Sales for the year increased to $95 million, a 9.4% increase 
over 2005. As of December 31, we had approximately $96 million in cash, cash equivalents and marketable 
securities. We also had a positive operating cash-flow and a debt-free balance sheet. 

Multiple products. International reach. 
A commitment to being the world leader in Gl diagnostic imaging. 

A Comprehensive View of the Gl Tract 

With three video capsules and one non-imaging capsule, our products enable physicians to visualize almost the 
entire GI tract. Our newest addition to the PillCam Platform, PillCam COLON received the CE Mark in 
October enabling us to market the product throughout the European Union. This was a tremendous milestone 
for our company, and we will begin rolling out our newest products this coming summer in select European 
countries. We have submitted our PillCam COLON data packet to the United States Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) and expect the agency to make a decision on regulatory clearance in 2007. Initial 
studies have shown PillCam COLON to be an effective tool for physicians to visualize the large intestine in 
patients who have had an incomplete colonoscopy or those who are unwilling or unable to have a colonoscopy. 
 
Our dissolvable Agile patency capsule received regulatory clearance in the United States in May 2006. 
Gastroenterologists have already embraced the capsule for its ability to determine if a patient has strictures 
that will prevent the PillCam SB from passing through the GI tract.  
 
We continue to work closely with our partner InScope to broaden awareness and increase demand for 
PillCam ESO. Increasingly, the medical community is recognizing PillCam ESO for its ability to detect 
esophageal varices, dilated blood vessels within the wall of the esophagus, that affect 40% of U.S. patients with 
liver cirrhosis. If left untreated, varices can burst and result in fatal bleeding in 20% of these patients.  
 
Accelerating Growth  
 
During the first half of 2006 we spent a significant amount of time evaluating and fine tuning our sales 
strategy in the United States. By increasing our sales force by 50% and shifting their focus to driving PillCam 
capsule sales, we were able to achieve solid results.  
 
Over 165,000 PillCam SB capsules were sold in 2006, a record for the Company, bringing total PillCam SB 
sales to almost 500,000 capsules since the product was launched in 2001. Our shift in sales strategy also 
resulted in a 21% increase in worldwide capsule reorders from our existing customer base, representing 
nearly 95% of total PillCam revenues in 2006. 
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As the leader in capsule endoscopy, we are responsible for educating and training physicians on this patient-
friendly GI diagnostic tool. Over the course of the year we trained hundreds of physicians on PillCam capsule 
endoscopy, while the company and outside gastrointestinal societies sponsored capsule endoscopy education 
courses. We believe that this investment will help advance PillCam capsule use around the world as more 
physicians bring their practices in line with the ICCE Consensus statements. 
 
Reimbursement also continues to drive Given Imaging’s growth. In November, the Centers for Medicare and 
Medicaid Services (CMS) announced that beginning in January 2007, physicians would have a permanent CPT 
code under which PillCam ESO procedures can be reimbursed. A CPT code is an essential element for individual 
health plans around the United States to issue their own PillCam ESO coverage policies. Today, over 6 million 
individuals in the United States are currently reimbursed for PillCam ESO for surveillance of esophageal varices, 
and we anticipate this number will increase substantially next year as we and our partner InScope educate 
physicians about the new code. 
 
Increasing numbers of U.S. and international payers widened their reimbursement policies for PillCam SB during 
the year. Several U.S. payers designated PillCam SB as a primary diagnostic tool, which means that patients do 
not have to undergo another endoscopic procedure before capsule endoscopy with PillCam SB. Approximately 18 
million of the 210 million individuals in the United States with reimbursed access to PillCam SB are now covered 
for the procedure as a primary diagnostic tool. 
 
Outside of the United States, the French National Authority for Health took initial steps to advance universal 
reimbursement for PillCam SB. We expect reimbursement for over 60 million French citizens to begin towards 
the end of 2007, which would be the largest European single coverage policy issued. As of December 31, 
approximately 190 million individuals outside of the United States had reimbursed access to PillCam SB. 
 
Innovation Drives Success 
 
We must continuously invest in upgrading and expanding our product platform to meet the evolving needs of 
physicians and their patients. Over the course of 2006 we enhanced our PillCam Platform with the addition of 
PillCam COLON, and we are on target to launch RAPID 5, our fifth generation of proprietary software, in 2007. 
In May we also received clearance in the United States and Europe to market RAPID Real-Time, a handheld 
accessory to the Given Workstation that enables the physician to view the capsule endoscopy images in real-time. 
The new device also enables a physician to remotely initialize a DataRecorder to administer the procedure to 
patients in remote locations.
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Looking Ahead

In 2007, we have set an aggressive 
agenda and expect to launch a record 
number of products pending regulatory 
clearance, including enhanced versions 
of PillCam SB and PillCam ESO and, 
most importantly, PillCam COLON in 
the United States and in other markets 
around the world. Another goal is to 
expand reimbursement for PillCam SB 
as a primary diagnostic tool and to 
expand PillCam ESO coverage for the 
diagnosis of varices. Our teams will 
continue to work with insurers on new 
and expanded reimbursement policies 
for our products.

We will also increase the contribution of our international operations to our financial results. 
Obtaining regulatory approval for PillCam SB in Japan was a major step in achieving this goal. 
Outside of Japan we continue to look for opportunities to expand into new markets including the 
Far East, Eastern Europe and Latin America. 
 
We recently announced an EU-sponsored research and development consortium that we believe 
targets the next wave of applications for our products. As the leader of this European consortium, 
we hope to develop an imaging and biosensing system to screen for cancer of the GI tract without 
biopsy. 
 
Our vision for Given Imaging is to improve healthcare by changing the way physicians around the 
world detect and diagnose diseases of the gastrointestinal tract. I believe that we are well on our 
way to delivering on that mission. We have a strong business based on a multi-product portfolio, a 
significant installed base of workstations and unmatched clinical data. We have a record of 
innovation, a solid intellectual property estate and a team that is stronger than ever. I am extremely 
optimistic about Given Imaging’s future. 
 
I’d like to thank our employees around the world for their dedication and our shareholders for 
sharing in our Company’s vision. 
 
Nachum (Homi) Shamir 
President & CEO 
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Given Imaging Product Page

The PillCam Platform 

Given Imaging develops, manufactures and markets patient-friendly solutions for 
screening and detecting disorders of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. The PillCam Platform
consists of three components; disposable PillCam video capsules, the Given Workstation
and Given’s proprietary RAPID software. 

PillCam Video Capsules 

Given Workstation 

The Given Workstation offers a user-friendly interface for viewing and interpreting images 
captured by PillCam video capsules. The Given Workstation includes RAPID 4 software which
enables a physician to review images captured by video capsules and offers powerful diagnostic tools
that aid in the reading and interpretation of PillCam studies. In the first quarter of 2007, we
submitted our next generation of software, RAPID 5, for clearance with the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration.  

DataRecorder 

After ingestion by the patient, the PillCam capsule transmits information from the body to a
wireless data recorder through an array of sensors that are secured to the abdomen or the chest,
depending on which procedure the patient undergoes. The DataRecorder supports all three types of
capsule procedures performed with our products.  

Additional Products 

Agile Patency System 

The Agile Patency System consists of the Agile patency capsule, a dissolvable capsule the same size
as PillCam SB and ESO video capsules, with a radio frequency identification (RFID) tag packed in a
lactose and barium powder. The Agile patency capsule is ingested by the patient and allows
physicians to confirm free passage of a PillCam video capsule in a patient’s gastrointestinal tract.  

RAPID Real-Time 

RAPID Real-Time is a handheld device that enables real-time viewing during a PillCam capsule 
endoscopy procedure. Additionally, RAPID Real-Time allows physicians to activate the 
DataRecorder and transfer data from the DataRecorder to a data storage device, like a USB
memory device.

    

� PillCam SB – PillCam SB is used to detect and diagnose disorders of the small bowel such as
suspected Crohn’s disease, small bowel tumors, malabsorption disorders (such as celiac disease),
and suspected GI bleeding of the small bowel (including iron deficiency anemia).

    
� PillCam ESO – PillCam ESO aids in the detection of esophageal disorders, such as esophageal

varices and Barrett’s esophagus, an early indication for esophageal cancer.
    
� PillCam COLON – Given Imaging’s newest capsule is designed to visualize the colon. The 

company received the CE Mark in October 2006 to market this capsule in Europe. In December
2006, we submitted PillCam COLON for 510(k) clearance with the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT DISCLAIMER: GIVEN IMAGING ANNUAL REPORT 

     This Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the 
U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934. For example, statements in the future tense, words such as “anticipates”, “estimates”, “expects”, “intends”, “plans”, 
“believes”, and words and terms of similar substance used in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance identify such 
forward-looking statements. These statements include, but are not limited, to statements contained in: (i) the Letter to Shareholders under the heading “A 
Comprehensive View of the GI Tract” regarding the timing of regulatory clearance in the United States for our PillCam COLON capsule, under the heading 
“Accelerated Growth” regarding anticipated growth of PillCam ESO sales and expected timing of reimbursement coverage in France and under the heading 
“Looking Ahead” regarding our expectations of 2007, and (ii) the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, 
including statements regarding expectations as to growth in revenues, sources of revenues, future investments and expenditures, the adequacy of our cash 
balances, additional equity and debt financing and other factors affecting revenues, such as reimbursement coverage, production efficiencies, the 
introduction of new products, the expansion of operations, the timing of regulatory clearances and approvals and expanded market opportunities for the 
Given System. These forward-looking statements represent management’s present expectations or beliefs about future events. As with any projection or 
forecast, they are inherently subject to uncertainty and changes in circumstances. Some of the factors that could cause our actual results to differ from those 
contained in the forward-looking statements are identified in our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2006, and include our ability to manufacture, 
market and sell our PillCam SB capsule, our ability to increase physicians’ reorders of our PillCam SB capsule, whether the Given System achieves broader 
penetration among physicians in place of other diagnostic techniques, the extent of reimbursement for the Given System in U.S. and non-U.S. markets; the 
impact of healthcare provider policies on reimbursement for the Given System; the success of our alliance with InScope for the marketing of our PillCam 
ESO capsule, the ability of us and our distributors to obtain and maintain regulatory clearances for our products in the jurisdictions in which we market the 
Given System and any future products; the success of future clinical trials; competition from larger, well-established medical device manufacturers and 
smaller, emerging manufacturers; our ability to meet expectations as to revenues and expenses and the other risks disclosed in our recent filings with the 
U.S. Securities Exchange Commission. Given Imaging assumes no obligation to update or alter its forward-looking statements whether as a result of such 
changes, new information, future events or otherwise. 
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A.  OPERATING RESULTS 

Overview 

     We develop, manufacture and market innovative diagnostic products for disorders of the gastrointestinal tract. Our principal product, which incorporates 
our core technology, is the Given System, a proprietary wireless imaging system that represents a fundamentally new approach to visual examination of the 
gastrointestinal tract. The Given System uses a miniaturized video camera contained in a disposable capsule, which we refer to as the PillCam capsule, that 
is easily ingested by the patient and delivers high quality color video in a noninvasive manner. In 2001, we commenced marketing the Given System with 
the PillCam SB capsule for detection of disorders of the small bowel. As of December 31, 2006, we had an installed base of nearly 3,500 Given Systems and 
had sold over 470,000 PillCam SB capsules in more than 60 countries worldwide. Since November 2004, we also market and sell our PillCam ESO capsule 
for visualization of the esophagus. We market the PillCam ESO video capsule in the United States through a strategic marketing and sales alliance with 
InScope, a division of Ethicon Endo-Surgery, a Johnson & Johnson company. We have also developed a patency capsule, which is a dissolvable capsule that 
enables physicians to determine whether there are obstructions or strictures in the gastrointestinal tract that may prevent passage of our PillCam capsules. 
We launched the first generation of our patency capsule in Europe in November 2003. In May 2006, following receipt of FDA clearance, we began 
marketing and selling a new patency capsule, which we call the AGILE capsule in the United States. We also sell the AGILE capsule in Europe. 

     Our long-term objective, subject to further development and receipt of regulatory clearances and/or approvals, is to establish the Given System as a 
platform for diagnosis of disorders in all parts of the gastrointestinal tract and the PillCam capsules as a primary diagnostic administered to patients with 
such suspected disorders. We believe that each segment of the gastrointestinal tract presents meaningful opportunities for patient-friendly diagnostic 
procedures. In furtherance of these objectives, in October 2006, we completed the development of our first generation PillCam COLON capsule and 
received the CE mark to market this capsule throughout the European Union. In December 2006, we submitted this capsule for FDA clearance, which we 
expect to receive in 2007. We plan to release the PillCam COLON for sale gradually into cleared markets following the completion of ongoing clinical trials 
and obtaining regulatory clearance for a new version of our RAPID software, RAPID 5.0, which is required for optimal performance of a capsule endoscopy 
procedure with this capsule. 

     We were incorporated in Israel in January 1998. We raised approximately $53.2 million of net proceeds in our initial public offering and were listed on 
the Nasdaq Global Market in October 2001. We completed a follow-on offering in June 2004 in which we raised additional net proceeds of $44.3 million. 
Since March 2004, our shares have also been listed on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. Since our inception, we have devoted substantially all of our resources 
to developing the Given System, performing clinical trials and marketing and selling the Given System and PillCam capsules. 

Revenues 

     We derive our revenues from sales of the Given System, consisting of a RAPID workstation, a portable data recorder, and disposable PillCam capsules, 
and from recurring sales of our PillCam capsules to our installed base. We also derive a small portion of our revenues from post-sale customer support 
contracts entered into by customers at the end of the warranty period for the computer workstation and data recorders. We also derive limited revenues from 
sales of our AGILE Patency System. 

     Revenue breakdown. In the early years since we commenced sales of the Given System, the majority of our revenues came from sale of the Given 
System to new customers. However, with nearly 3,500systems now installed worldwide, of which nearly 2,200 are in the United States, a substantial 
majority of our revenues is generated from reorders of our PillCam capsules, particularly PillCam SB capsules, by existing customers. The proportion of our 
revenues derived from sales of capital equipment components of the Given System, such as the Rapid workstations and portable 
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data recorders, and revenues derived from sales of the PillCam capsules, which generate recurring sales, is an important indicator of our results of 
operations. In recent years, we have seen a gradual increase in the share of revenues generated from recurring sale of our PillCam capsules. In 2006, we 
derived 80.4% of our revenues from sales of the PillCam SB capsule compared to 72.1% of our revenues in 2005 and 64.0% of our revenues in 2004. Sales 
of the PillCam ESO capsule, which began at the end of November 2004, represented 1.5% of our revenues in 2006, compared to 5.0% of our revenues in 
2005. We expect that a substantial majority of our revenues in the future will continue to come from recurring sales of our PillCam capsules 

     The following table sets forth information for the periods indicated regarding the breakdown of our revenues: 

_________ 

* Less than 1%. 

     Workstations and data recorders. In 2006, our revenues from the sale of workstations and data recorders decreased compared to our revenues from the 
sale of these products in 2005. This continues the trend that started in 2005 compared to 2004. The decrease in revenues from sale of capital equipment is 
attributable to both lower quantities of workstations and date recorders sold and lower average selling price. We believe that we sold a smaller number of 
workstations and data recorders due to our already existing significant installed base, which is not likely to grow at historical rates or at all since a majority 
of gastroenterologists in the United States already have access to a capsule endoscopy system. Another important reason for this decrease in sales of capital 
equipment was our continued focus on increasing utilization and reorders of the PillCam SB capsule over capital equipment sale. For example, in 2006, we 
revised the compensation plan of our U.S. sales force so that a higher portion of their potential income is coming from sales of capsules rather than sales of 
computer workstations. 

     In addition, with the introduction of new products or newer versions of existing products or as part of our promotional activities, we place our capital 
equipment or replace older equipment of many customers with newer versions of our capital equipment at a reduced price. This resulted in a lower average 
selling price for our capital equipment and contributed to the decline in revenues. 

     In 2007, revenues from sales of workstations and data recorders may increase due to the recent clearance we received to market our system and Pillcam 
SB capsule in Japan. Generally, however, we believe that a growing portion of our revenues in the foreseeable future will come from the sale of capsules 
compared to capital equipment. 

     PillCam SB. Substantially all of our revenues from capsule sales were attributed to sales of the PillCam SB capsule, which we began selling worldwide 
in the fourth quarter of 2001. We expect recurring sales of the PillCam SB capsule to continue to account for a substantial majority of our revenues from 
capsule sales in 2007. The primary reasons for this expected growth are: 

z Most small bowel indications for which the PillCam SB capsule is used are covered by federal and private reimbursement policies. 

z In 2006, several reimbursement policies began covering small bowel capsule endoscopy as a primary diagnostic tool, without the requirement to 

perform other diagnostic procedures prior to using the PillCam SB capsule. We expect this trend to continue in 2007, which we believe will result in 
more capsule endoscopy procedures of the small bowel being performed. 
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  $   % of annual revenues  

  2004    2005     2006    2004    2005   2006  

     (In thousands)            
Workstations and data recorders  18,669   16,145   12,513   28.7  18.6  13.2

PillCam SB capsule  41,622   62,528   76,360   64.0  72.1  80.3

PillCam ESO capsule  1,829   4,384   1,438   2.8  5.1  1.5

Patency system and capsule  188   174   353   *  *  *

Service  2,712   3,545   4,365   4.2  4.2  4.6

         Total  65,020   86,776   95,029   100.0% 100.0% 100.0%



  

z Our sales force is primarily focused on selling capsules and the market for the PillCam SB capsule is currently a more developed market compared to 

the market for our PillCam ESO capsule or PillCam COLON capsule. 

z Receiving regulatory clearance to market the PillCam SB capsule in Japan in April 2007. 

     PillCam ESO. We market the PillCam ESO in the Unites States through an exclusive sales representation, co-promotion and cooperation agreement with 
Ethicon Endo-Surgery, a Johnson & Johnson company. InScope, a business division of Ethicon Endo-Surgery established to market products to the 
gastroenterology market, has exclusive rights to market our PillCam ESO capsule in the United States. 

     During 2005 and 2006, sales of our PillCam ESO were insignificant due primarily to the lack of permanent dedicated CPT code for the esophageal 
capsule endoscopy procedure and third-party reimbursement coverage, as well as limited clinical data to support widespread use of the PillCam ESO 
capsule. As a result, we amended our agreement with InScope to adjust our relationship to existing market conditions and expectations. For details regarding 
the amended agreement, see “Item 4–Information on the Company–Business Overview–Marketing and Distribution.” 

     In the fourth quarter of 2006, a permanent CPT Code was assigned to our PillCam ESO capsule by the American Medical Association, or AMA, and the 
Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, and we saw the first third-party reimbursement coverage for procedures with the PillCam ESO capsule 
to evaluate esophageal varices in patients diagnosed with cirrhosis of the liver, a chronic liver disease. In addition, in late 2006, we completed a large multi-
center study to evaluate the use of PillCam ESO in the evaluation of esophageal varices in patients diagnosed with cirrhosis of the liver. As of January 31, 
2007, approximately 6.6 million individuals in the United States had reimbursement coverage for using the esophageal capsule endoscopy procedure in the 
detection of esophageal varices. Reimbursement coverage for the use of PillCam ESO in the detection of Gastro-Esophageal Reflux Disease, or GERD, 
which is more prevalent in the general population than varices, is not expected before additional clinical data supporting such use is available. 

     With initial reimbursement in place, the existence of favorable clinical data to support to use of PillCam ESO in the evaluation of esophageal varices and 
the readjustment of our relationship with InScope, we believe the demand for our PillCam ESO capsule will increase gradually beginning in 2007, 
particularly for the varices indication. However, we expect that in 2007 sales of PillCam ESO will continue to be small compared to sales of our PillCam 
SB. We expect a more significant increase in sales of PillCam ESO when there is clinical data and reimbursement to support and cover the use of this 
capsule in GERD patients. We intend to focus on the GERD market only when the next version of our PillCam ESO capsule is available, which we expect to 
occur in late 2007. 

     PillCam COLON. In late 2006, we completed the development of the first version of our PillCam COLON capsule for visualization of the colon and 
received the CE mark that permits us to market and sell this capsule in Europe. We have also submitted this capsule for FDA clearance in the United States 
in December 2006. PillCam COLON is the third video capsule we developed. We believe the launch of this capsule reinforces the Given System platform as 
the leading product for capsule endoscopy. It demonstrates our commitment to this field and has an important competitive advantage. 

     Since PillCam COLON is our newest product and has not yet received FDA marketing clearance in the United States, there can be no assurance that we 
will be able to achieve widespread market acceptance of the PillCam COLON as superior to existing technologies for visualization of the colon. We believe 
the following are important factors in determining the success of this product in the foreseeable future: 

z Our ability to complete the development, receive regulatory clearance and successfully market and sell a further advanced version of our RAPID 
software, which we refer to as RAPID 5.0. RAPID 5.0 will be required for optimal performance of capsule endoscopy of the colon. Weexpect that 
RAPID 5.0 will be commercially available by the fourth quarter of 2007. 
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z Receipt of FDA marketing clearance in the United States. We cannot be sure that FDA clearance or other regulatory approvals will be granted. In 

order to obtain FDA clearance and other regulatory approvals, we will be required to demonstrate that the PillCam COLON is safe and effective for 
its intended purpose. 

z The existence of clinical data sufficient to support the use of the PillCam COLON for visualization of the colon as compared to other colon 

visualization methods. If clinical trials indicate that PillCam COLON is not as clinically-effective as other current methods, or if the PillCam 

COLON procedure causes unexpected complications or other unforeseen negative effects, we may not obtain regulatory clearance to market and sell 
this capsule. 

z The availability of sufficient clinical and cost-effectiveness data for the American Medical Association, or AMA, to provide a favorable permanent 

“current procedural terminology”, or CPT, code, and for private third-party payers to make an adequate reimbursement decision to provide coverage 
for the PillCam COLON procedure. 

z The availability of a reliable colon cleansing and preparation procedure for the PillCam COLON capsule, which is accepted by physicians and 
patients. 

     We believe that there is a significant market and a long-felt need among physicians and patients for a simple, cost-effective and non-invasive technique 
for visualization of the colon and colorectal cancer screening. We believe that the biggest market opportunity for the PillCam COLON capsule is as a tool 
for colorectal cancer screening. According to guidelines of professional associations in the United States, more than 40 million people need to be screened 
each year in the United States, yet patient compliance is only around 40 percent. We believe that the PillCam COLON procedure will eventually provide a 
less invasive alternative to traditional colonoscopy. However, further capsule and procedure development as well as significant additional clinical data to 
support the use of this capsule as a screening tool are necessary before we can realize this market opportunity. Based on the results from the two initial 
clinical studies with PillCam COLON and currently available technology, we plan to initially market PillCam COLON in Europe and, following FDA 
clearance, in the United States, for visualization of the colon in patients who are unable or unwilling to undergo traditional colonoscopy or in cases of 
incomplete colonoscopies. 

     We plan to release this product for sale gradually, following completion of additional clinical trials that are underway in Europe and the U.S. We do not 
expect that the PillCam COLON capsule will contribute significantly to our revenues in 2007 for the following reasons: 

z Our newest software version, RAPID 5.0, that is required for optimal performance of a capsule endoscopy of the colon with our PillCam COLON, is 

expected to be commercially available in the fourth quarter of 2007; 

z FDA clearance for the PillCam COLON capsule is not expected before mid-2007; 

z Clinical data for the PillCam COLON is limited; and 

z Reimbursement for the PillCam COLON procedure does not exist at this early stage and is not expected in 2007. 

     PillCam capsule reorders. The portion of our total revenues resulting from recurring capsule sales is an important indicator for measuring our results of 
operations because it indicates the level of adoption by physicians of the Given System. We seek to increase the level of recurring sales of our PillCam 
capsule by a number of methods, including: 

z broadening the reimbursed indications, conducting clinical trials to prove the clinical benefits of capsule endoscopy compared to other diagnostic 

procedures of the gastrointestinal tract and educating physicians regarding the clinical benefits of the PillCam capsules; 

z increased selling and marketing activities and more frequent contact with our customers to inform and educate them about our technology; and 

z enhancing operating efficiencies of the system to allow physicians to incorporate capsule endoscopy into their daily practice routines. 
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     To achieve this, in 2006 we increased the number of field sales representatives in the United States from 46 to 71 and decreased the number of accounts 
per sales representative to allow our sales representatives to spend more time at the physicians’ offices and increase the frequency of contact with our 
customers. We also adjusted the compensation plan of our sales force to offer a greater reward for capsule sales. In addition, we continued our efforts to 
revise reimbursement coverage for the PillCam SB procedure and as of December 31, 2006, approximately 18 million individuals in the United States had 
reimbursement coverage for PillCam SB as a primary diagnostic tool, without a requirement to first undergo other diagnostic tests. Finally, we continued 
with our market education activities. 

     The following table sets forth information for the periods indicated regarding the total numbers of PillCam SB capsules sold and the percentage of 
revenues derived from such sales which represent reorders: 

 

     Seasonality 

     We believe that demand for systems and capsules may be affected by seasonal factors during the summer months when physicians and administrators are 
more likely to postpone purchasing decisions relating to the Given System due to summer vacations, and patients are more likely to postpone less urgent 
diagnostic procedures until later in the year. We believe that the seasonal effect in the third quarter may become more pronounced if the portion of our 
revenues derived from reorders continues to grow. 

     Geographical breakdown 

     We derived 70% of our revenues in 2006 from the United States compared to 74% in 2005. The following table sets forth the geographic breakdown of 
our revenues for the periods indicated: 

 

     We expect that a significant portion of our revenues in the foreseeable future will continue to come from the United States, mainly due to our ability to 
leverage existing market share to generate additional sales, a favorable reimbursement system and general acceptance of new technologies among 
physicians. In Japan, we finally received marketing clearance for the Given System and our PillCam SB in April 2007 and began selling the Given System 
there. Since Japan is a new market, we expect to initially focus on the placement of systems in order to expand our market penetration. However, we do not 
expect to generate significant revenues from sales in Japan before these products are also approved for reimbursement by Japanese authorities, which could 
occur as early as the fourth quarter of 2007, but is more likely to occur in 2008. Behind the United States, Japan is considered one of the largest market in 
the world for medical devices for use in the gastrointestinal tract. Therefore, we believe that the Japanese market represents a significant growth opportunity 
for our business in 2008 and beyond. 
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   2004   2005  2006

Total number of PillCam SB capsules sold*   90,400    135,500   165,000  
Number of PillCam SB capsule sales representing reorders.   83,850    128,760   155,840  
% of revenues from capsule sales that represent reorders   92.7%    95%   94.4%  

___________ 
* Sales of PillCam ESO began only in November 2004 and reorders in 2005 and 2006 were negligible primarily due to the lack of reimbursement. 

Accordingly, reorders of PillCam ESO are not included in the above table.

   2004   2005  2006

United States   72%    74%   70%  
Europe   21%    19%   22%  
Rest of World   7%    7%   8%  



  

     Reimbursement 

     We believe that the existence of reimbursement coverage and the amount of reimbursement will continue to significantly affect the proportion of our 
revenues that are derived from sales in the United States. Availability of reimbursement is a key factor in the decision of physicians and healthcare providers 
to purchase the Given System and perform capsule endoscopy procedures. Once a payor has decided to provide reimbursement for use of the Given System, 
the level of reimbursement coverage provided also becomes a key factor in a physician’s decision. We estimate that as of December 31, 2006, 
reimbursement for small bowel capsule endoscopy was available worldwide to approximately 400 million people of which approximately 209 million are 
located in the United States. Most reimbursement policies in the United States provide coverage for a number of small bowel indications, including obscure 
bleeding, suspected Crohn’s disease, suspected small bowel tumors and other small bowel pathologies. In Europe, reimbursement for capsule endoscopy was 
available for approximately 166 million people as of December 31, 2006 compared to approximately 110 million people at the end of 2005, and 
reimbursement for expanded indications, such as Crohn’s disease and other small bowel disorders was available for approximately 101 million people at the 
end of 2006, compared to approximately 87 million at the end of 2005. We believe the reimbursement process in France could be completed in the second 
half of 2007, which will result in coverage for approximately 60 million people. This represents a significant growth opportunity for us in Europe in the 
foreseeable future. Finally, reimbursement is available for approximately 20 million individuals in Australia and New Zealand. 

     In addition to continuing our efforts to expand reimbursement coverage, we have made significant efforts in educating our customers regarding coverage 
conditions and rates. For example, we hired additional personnel for our reimbursement department to maintain more frequent contact with existing and 
potential payers on the one hand, and with our customers on the other hand. We believe that increased customer awareness and knowledge is important to 
remove any misunderstandings that may exist among physicians regarding the availability of reimbursement or coverage rates and to allow more patients the 
benefit of our technology. We also maintain a reimbursement telephone support line to respond directly to inquiries from customers. 

     In 2006, we also continued our efforts to establish the PillCam SB capsule as a primary diagnostic tool for patients with suspected disorders of the small 
bowel and to convince third party payers to provide reimbursement coverage for capsule endoscopy as a primary diagnostic tool. Coverage as a primary 
diagnostic tool means that physicians will be able to prescribe the PillCam SB capsule in the first instance, without the requirement to perform any previous 
diagnostic procedure. We believe this could increase physicians’ use of the PillCam SB capsule. To convince the payers, we will need to present to them 
economic and health outcomes analyses showing the benefits of using the PillCam SB capsule as a primary diagnostic tool. As a result of these efforts, 
approximately 18 million individuals in the United States had reimbursement coverage for PillCam SB as a primary diagnostic tool, as of December 31, 
2006. 

     Effective January 1, 2007, the national average global fee paid by Medicare for a procedure in a physician’s office was decreased to $955 and the 
physician fee for the professional component of a hospital outpatient procedure was decreased to $180. Reimbursement rates may also be modified in the 
future. Based on recent history, we do not expect that modest changes to reimbursement rates will have a material effect on our business. 

     In 2006, we also obtained a permanent CPT code for the esophageal capsule endoscopy procedure with our PillCam ESO that became effective January 
1, 2007. We have also obtained the first few reimbursement policies for this procedure with 6.6 million individuals in the United States covered as of 
January 31, 2007. 

     Competition 

     In October 2005, Olympus Corporation launched a competing capsule endoscopy system and began sales in Europe and Australia. Olympus displayed its 
capsule endoscopy system at several trade shows, won some tenders published by public hospitals in Europe, and delivered a number of its capsule 
endoscopy systems to customers in Europe and Australia. In addition, based on publicly 
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available information, Olympus is also conducting clinical trials in the United States and submitted an application to the FDA seeking clearance to market its 
capsule endoscopy system in the United States. According to public sources, Olympus is also seeking regulatory clearance to market its capsule endoscopy 
system in Japan. In addition to Olympus, a Chinese company is selling its capsule endoscopy systems in China at lower prices than us and presented its 
systems at industry trade shows outside Asia. Finally, according to publicly available information, a South Korean company reported that it successfully 
completed clinical trials of a capsule endoscopy system in 2006 and applied for regulatory clearance to market this system in South Korea. 

     The effect of competition from Olympus or other possible direct competitors is uncertain. On the one hand, we may lose market share, be forced to 
reduce the price of our products or experience delays in completing sales as a result of a longer decision making process among potential customers. On the 
other hand, however, we believe that the entry of Olympus into the capsule endoscopy market further validates the market opportunity of our PillCam 
platform and may result in greater market acceptance of our products, which we believe have a number of advantages over competing products. First, we 
have a first-to-market advantage, a large installed base of customers and have been concentrating on the development and sale of capsule endoscopy systems 
longer than Olympus and other potential competitors. Second, we have an advanced platform enabling us to use our line of PillCam capsules for diagnosing 
disorders in areas of the gastrointestinal tract in addition to the small bowel, while Olympus only has a small bowel capsule at this time and has not 
announced the development of other capsules. Third, we believe our technological solution, and in particular our software solution, is superior to the 
products introduced by competitors. Finally, we pioneered the field of capsule endoscopy and have a patent portfolio that we believe protects critical aspects 
of our technology and creates technological barriers for our competitors, which may force them to enter the market with inferior products or keep them out 
of certain territories. 

Customers and customer concentration 

     We market and sell the Given System through a direct sales force in the United States, Germany, France, Australia and Israel. We rely on third-party 
distributors in international markets outside these countries. We sell the Given System primarily to hospitals, gastroenterology offices and gastroenterology 
outpatient facilities. In 2006, we derived $15.7 million, or 16.5%, of our revenues from sales to local distributors, compared to $11.9 million, or 13.7% in 
2005. Our direct sales revenues are derived from a large number of individual customers and have higher gross margins. In 2006, no single direct sales 
customer accounted for more than 0.6% of our revenues and no single distributor accounted for more than 2.5% of our revenues. It is our policy to require 
collateral or security in connection with sales to distributors. Due to these factors and the geographical dispersion of our customers, we believe that we 
adequately control our exposure to credit risks associated with accounts receivable. To date, we have not experienced any material bad debts and we have 
collected substantially all of our receivables. 

Cost of revenues and gross margins 

     Cost of revenues consists primarily of materials, as well as manufacturing costs and related depreciation of our production facilities, the salary and 
related costs of our technical staff who assemble our products, royalties payable to the Office of the Chief Scientist, warranty costs and product liability 
insurance. 

     The principal factors affecting our gross margins are related to the volume of PillCam capsules we sell, the sale prices, the product mix, namely the 
proportion of our revenues derived from sales of workstations and portable data recorders, compared to sales of the PillCam capsules, as well as the 
percentage of our sales made as direct sales. In general, our gross margins from capsule sales are higher than our average gross margins from sales of capital 
equipment, such as workstations and data recorders. A primary reason for the lower gross margins is that from time to time, with the introduction of new 
products or newer versions of existing products or as part of our promotional activities, we place our capital equipment or replace older equipment of many 
customers with newer 
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versions of our capital equipment at a reduced price or at no charge. In addition, our gross margins in territories in which we use our direct sales force are 
generally higher than our gross margins in territories in which we market and sell our products through third-party distributors. 

Operating expenses 

     Research and development. Our research and development expenses consist primarily of costs associated with the design, development, pre-manufacture 
and testing of, and enhancements to, the Given System, salaries and related personnel costs, clinical studies and obtaining regulatory approvals, patent costs, 
sponsored research costs and other expenses related to our product development and research program. We expense our research and development costs as 
they are incurred. “Research and development expenses, net” are net of grants received from the Israeli Government through the Office of the Chief Scientist 
of the Ministry of Industry and Trade. We plan to continue investing in research and development, as we enhance the Given System, pursue the development 
of new products and perform more clinical trials to drive continued expansion of reimbursement for the PillCam capsules worldwide. 

     Sales and marketing. Our sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions to our sales force, travel and related costs for our 
internal sales staff and costs related to marketing activities such as medical meetings, medical training and education, trade shows, and promotional and 
public relations activities, as well as costs associated with development of our website. We expect that our selling and marketing expenses will increase in 
the future as we increase sales of PillCam capsules, further expand our sales and marketing team, expand our educational activities and expand our 
promotional efforts. Our marketing expenses include commissions we pay InScope under our exclusive sales representation, co-promotion and cooperation 
agreement for the marketing of the PillCam ESO capsule. Under this agreement, we pay InScope commissions on sales in the United States at a rate of 50% 
on the sale of the PillCam ESO capsule and 10% on sales of capital equipment parts of the Given System, including workstations and data recorders, to 
customers that use the PillCam ESO capsule. Accordingly, our marketing expenses may increase if sales of our PillCam ESO capsule increase. Under the 
terms of the agreement, as of December 31, 2006, we received from InScope milestone payments totaling $25 million. We expect to receive an additional 
$25 million, plus 7% interest annually, in six installments beginning in January 2008. We record these milestone payments as a reduction of commission 
expenses and will recognize them ratably over the term of the agreement, which is 15 years. Subject to achieving specified minimum sales targets and 
meeting certain other conditions, the exclusive term of the agreement will continue for up to 11 years followed by a four-year transition period during which 
InScope’s marketing rights will be co-exclusive with our rights. 

     General and administrative. Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for our executive and administrative 
staff, insurance premiums, and legal, accounting and consulting expenses. We expect general and administrative expenses to increase significantly in 2007, 
primarily as a result of legal expenses associated with our patent litigation in the United States against Olympus. 

     Equity-based compensation. Our operating expenses also include amortization of stock-based compensation, which is allocated among research and 
development expenses, marketing expenses and general and administrative expenses based on the division in which the recipient of the option grant is 
employed. In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standard Board, or FASB, issued a new Financial Accounting Standard, FAS 123R, that requires 
companies, including Given Imaging, to recognize as an expense the grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity-based compensation to 
employees. Effective January 1, 2006, we have adopted FAS 123R using the modified prospective method for the valuation of our equity-based 
compensation. The adoption of FAS 123R resulted in the recognition of $5.2 million of additional compensation expense in 2006 and, consequently, has had 
a material impact on our earnings per share. Had FAS123R been in effect during 2004 and 2005, our resulting compensation expense from the granting of 
options would have been $13.4 million and $10.3 million, respectively. In 2007, we expect to continue our practice of granting stock options and other 
equity awards to our directors, officers, employees and 
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consultants. The resulting compensation expenses in 2007 will be impacted by various factors, including the number of options we grant and their fair value 
at the date of grant. 

     Financing income, net. Financing income, net consists primarily of interest earned on our cash balances, income from marketable securities and foreign 
exchange gains or losses, net of financing expenses. Financing expenses consist primarily of bank fees and currency fees. 

     Taxes. In 2006, Israeli companies were generally subject to income tax at the corporate tax rate of 31%. This tax rate has been reduced to 29% in 2007 
and is expected to be gradually reduced to a rate of 25% by 2010. However, our investment program in leasehold improvements and equipment at our 
manufacturing facility in Yoqneam, Israel has been granted approved enterprise status and, therefore, we are eligible for the reduced tax benefits described 
later in this section in “Corporate Tax.” These benefits should result in income recognized by us from our investment program being tax exempt for a 
specified period after we begin to report taxable income and exhaust any net operating loss carry-forwards. However, these benefits may not be applied to 
reduce the tax rate for any income that is not derived from sales of our product manufactured at our facility in Yoqneam, Israel. 

     We recorded a deferred tax asset of $1.4 million as of December 31, 2006. On a regular basis, we estimate our actual current tax exposure and assess 
temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheet. The deferred tax asset represents our assessment of accumulated losses that could be 
carried forward to future years to reduce taxable income in those future years. We consider projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in 
making this assessment. We must then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered and, to the extent we believe that recovery is not 
likely, we must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance or increase this allowance in a period, we must include an 
expense within the tax provision in the statement of operations. The deferred tax asset may be realized over time, depending upon the generation of future 
taxable income during the periods in which those accumulated losses become deductible. 

     Significant management judgment is required in determining our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net 
deferred tax assets. Based upon our projections for future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, we believe that it 
is more likely than not that we will realize the benefits of this deferred tax asset. However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could 
be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carry-forward period are reduced. 

     Minority share in losses (profits) of subsidiary. Minority share in losses (profits) of subsidiary consists of the losses attributed to the 49% interest of 
minority shareholders in our 51% controlled Japanese subsidiary, Given Imaging KK. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

     Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements. However, certain of our accounting 
policies are particularly important to the description of our financial position and results of operations. In applying these critical accounting policies, our 
management uses its judgment to determine the appropriate assumptions to be used in making certain estimates. Those estimates are based on our historical 
experience, the terms of existing contracts, our observation of trends in the industry, information provided by our customers and information available from 
other outside sources, as appropriate. These estimates are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. With respect to our policies on revenue recognition, 
warranty costs and inventories, our historical experience is based principally on our operations since we commenced selling the Given System in the second 
quarter of 2001. Our critical accounting policies include: 

z Revenue recognition. We recognize revenues from sales of the Given System upon delivery, provided that collection of payment is probable, there is 

persuasive evidence of an arrangement, no significant obligations in respect of installation remain and the price is fixed 
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or determinable. Our arrangements with customers and distributors do not contain product return rights. Certain of our sales contracts include a post-
contract customer support, or PCS, component. We defer recognition of the revenue attributed to the PCS component of the sale and recognize 
revenue based on the term of the support period, which is generally a one-year period following the sale. The fair value of the PCS component is 

based on the price at which we sell customer support contracts separately following the expiration of the standard warranty period for our products.   

z Warranty costs. Our products are usually covered by a one-year warranty following sale. We accrue estimated warranty costs at the time of 

shipment. Our warranty reserve is based on our best estimate of the amounts necessary to settle future claims on products sold as of the balance sheet 

date based on contractual warranty rights and our historical experience of the frequency of failures of our products which are not covered by 

warranties that our suppliers give to us. The amount of our estimated warranty liability is currently approximately 3.0% of the sales of such products 

and may change if the costs incurred due to product failures increase in the future. In 2006, our warranty costs did not exceed our reserve of $18,000. 

In the event of any future problems with our products, we will need to increase the amount of our reserves. 

z Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined on the basis of the average cost method for raw materials and 

finished goods and on the basis of actual manufacturing costs for work-in-progress and sub-contractors. We write down fully the cost of components 

in our inventory which we discover do not perform during the production process. As we expand and enhance our manufacturing operations, the 

write down of amounts of non-performing components in our inventory may change. Spare parts and raw materials that are no longer used in 

producing our products are written down to their fair market value. In addition, we add to the cost of finished products held in inventory the overhead 
from our manufacturing process. 

z Foreign currency translation.In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to translate non-U.S. dollar amounts in our financial 
statements and the financial statements of our subsidiaries into U.S. dollars. Under the relevant accounting guidance the treatment of any gains or 
losses resulting from this translation is dependent upon our management’s determination of the functional currency of each subsidiary. The 
functional currency is determined based on management’s judgment and involves consideration of all relevant economic facts and circumstances 
affecting the subsidiary. Generally, the currency in which the subsidiary transacts a majority of its transactions, including billings, financing, payroll 
and other expenditures would be considered the functional currency. However, any dependency upon the parent and the nature of the subsidiary’s 
operations must also be considered. If any subsidiary’s functional currency is deemed to be the local currency, then any gain or loss associated with 
the translation of that subsidiary’s financial statements into U.S. dollars would be included as other comprehensive income. However, if the 
functional currency of a subsidiary is deemed to be the U.S. dollar, then any gain or loss associated with the translation of these financial statements 
would be included within statement of operations. Based on our assessment of the factors discussed above, we consider the U.S. dollar to be the 
functional currency for each of our subsidiaries. Therefore, all gains and losses from translations are recorded in our statement of operations and are 
included in determining our net income. In the event that we determine that the functional currency of these or any future subsidiaries is not the U.S. 
dollar, any foreign currency gains or losses would not affect our net income for the year presented. 

z Accounting for income taxes. As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements we are required to estimate our income taxes 

in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process requires us to estimate our actual current tax exposure and make an assessment of 

temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and 

liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered 
and, to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, 
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we must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance or increase this allowance in a period, we must include an 
expense within the tax provision in the statement of operations. Significant management judgment is required in determining our deferred tax assets 
and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. We have recorded a deferred tax asset, net of $1.4 million as 
of December 31, 2006. Based upon our projections for future taxable income in our U.S. subsidiary over the periods in which the deferred tax assets 
are deductible, we believe that we will realize the benefits of these deductible differences. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, 

however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carry forward period are reduced.    

z Accounting for Equity Awards. Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R, which supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 

25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”. Generally, the approach in SFAS 123R is similar to the approach described in SFAS 123 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123”). However, SFAS 123R requires all equity-based payments to employees, including 
grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the statement of income based on their fair values. We elected the modified-prospective 
method and therefore prior periods were not restated. Under the modified-prospective method, compensation costs recognized in 2006 include also 
compensation costs for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested, as of December 31, 2006. In 2006, we recognized equity-based 
compensation expense under SFAS123R in the amount of $5.2 million. When calculating this equity-based compensation expense we took into 
consideration awards that are ultimately expected to vest. Therefore, this expense has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. In our pro forma 
information required under SFAS No. 123 for the periods prior to fiscal 2006, we accounted for forfeitures as they occurred. We elected to apply the 
intrinsic value-based method prescribed in APB Opinion No. 25 for our equity-based compensation to employees and directors and provide the 
proforma disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and 
Disclosure, an amendment of SFAS No. 123”. As such, we computed and recorded compensation expense for grants whose terms were fixed with 
respect to the number of shares and option price only if the market price on the date of grant exceeded the exercise price of the stock option. The 

compensation cost for the fixed plans was recorded over the period the employee performs the service to which the stock compensation relates.  
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Results of Operations 

     Our consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 are set forth below: 

 

     Our historical operating results as a percentage of net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 are set forth below: 
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2004     2005   2006*

         (In thousands)      
Statements of Operations Data:                  
Revenues   $ 65,020    $ 86,776   $ 95,029  

Cost of revenues    17,734      22,070    24,154  
Gross profit    47,286      64,706    70,875  
Operating expenses:                  
         Research and development, gross    (7,363)      (8,833)    (12,678)  

         Royalty-bearing participation.    1,140      1,244    1,867  
         Research and development, net    (6,223)      (7,589)    (10,811)  
         Sales and marketing    (33,652)      (43,281)    (50,732)  

         General and administrative    (6,916)      (9,657)    (16,027)  

Total operating expenses    (46,791)      (60,527)    (77,570)  
Operating profit (loss)    495      4,179    (6,695)  
Financing income, net    956      762    3,980  

Other expenses, net    —      —    —  
Profit (loss) before taxes on income    1,451      4,941    (2,715)  

Taxes on income    690      286    (127)  
Profit (loss) before minority share    2,141      5,227    (2,842)  

Minority share in losses of subsidiary    747      1,116    1,334  

Net profit (loss)   $ 2,888    $ 6,343   $ (1,508)  

___________ 
* 2006 results include $0.6 million of compensation expense in research and development, $1.8 million of compensation expense in sales and marketing, 

and $2.8 million of compensation expense in general and administrative expenses, resulting from the grant of options. 

   Year ended December 31,  

   2004  2005  2006  
   (In thousands)  
Statements of Operations Data:           
Revenues   100.0% 100.0% 100.0%  

Cost of revenues   27.3  25.4  25.4  
Gross profit   72.7  74.6  74.6  
Operating expenses:           
         Research and development, gross   11.3  10.2  13.3  

         Royalty-bearing participation   1.7  1.4  2.0  
         Research and development, net   9.6  8.8  11.3  
         Sales and marketing   51.8  49.9  53.4  

         General and administrative   10.6  11.1  16.9  

Total operating expenses   72.0  69.8  81.6  
Operating profit (loss)   0.7  4.8  (7.0)  

Financing income, net   1.5  0.9  4.2  
Profit (loss) before taxes on income.   2.2  5.7  (2.8)  

Taxes on income   1.1  0.3  (0.1)  

Profit (loss) before minority share   3.3  6.0  (2.9)  

Minority share in losses of subsidiary   1.1  1.3  1.4  

Net profit (loss)   4.4  7.3  (1.5)  



  

Year Ended December 31, 2006 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005 

     Revenues. Revenues increased by $8.2 million, or 9.5%, to $95.0 million in 2005 from $86.8 million in 2005. This increase was primarily due to an 
increase of $13.8 million, or 22.1%, in sales of our PillCam SB capsule and an increase of $0.8 million in service contract revenues. Approximately 97% of 
the $13.8 million increase in sales of the PillCam SB capsule was attributable to increases in number of capsules sold, and approximately 3% was 
attributable to the higher average selling price of capsules compared to 2005. The increase in service contract revenues was attributable mainly to the 
increased number of maintenance agreements in the United States. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $3.6 million, or 22.5%, in revenues 
from sales of capital equipment, namely workstation and data recorder, and by a decrease of $3.0 million in revenues from our PillCam ESO capsules. 
Approximately 52% of the decrease in revenues from capital equipment sales is attributable to lower quantities and 48% of the decrease is attributable to 
lower average selling price. We sold a smaller number of capital equipment items primarily because a majority of gastroenterologists in the United States 
already have access to a capsule endoscopy system. The lower selling price is mainly due to promotional activities during the year and an increase of second 
systems sold to existing customers, which were sold at a significant discount. 

     Cost of revenues and gross margins. Cost of revenues increased to $24.2 million in 2006 compared to $22.1 million in 2005, while gross margins 
remained at 74.6% in 2006, similar to 2005. The increase in cost of revenues was mainly due to an increase of $1.4 million in consumption of raw materials, 
an increase of $0.3 million in labor expenses and an increase of $0.6 in other manufacturing costs. The increase was slightly offset by a decrease of $0.2 
million in royalties payable to the Office of the Chief Scientist. 

     Research and development. Gross research and development expenses increased by $3.9 million, or 43.5%, to $12.7 million in 2006 from $8.8 million in 
2005. This increase was due mainly to a $1.4 million increase in labor expenses, $0.6 million of stock-options compensation expenses as a result of the 
adoption of FAS 123R, an increase of $0.6 million in investments in R&D projects, an increase of $0.7 million in investments in clinical trials and an 
increase of $0.5 million in other expenses. 

     Research and development expenses, net of grants received from the office of the Israeli Chief Scientist, totaled $10.8 million in 2006, compared to $7.6 
million in 2005. Grants totaling $1.9 million were received in 2006 compared to $1.2 million received in 2005. In both years, the grants were received for 
new products under development. 

     Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses increased by $7.4 million, or 28.6%, to $50.7 million in 2006 from $43.3 million in 2005. This 
increase consisted primarily of an increase of $6.1 million in employment-related expenses due to increased number of sales and marketing employees, 
mainly in the United States, an additional $1.8 million of stock options-related compensation expenses as a result of the adoption of FAS 123R, an increase 
of $1.0 million in expenses related to our participation in trade shows and other marketing events, an increase of $0.5 million in clinical and regulatory 
activities in Japan and an increase of $0.8 in travel expenses. These increases were offset by a decrease of $1.5 million in commissions to Ethicon Endo-
Surgery for sales of our PillCam ESO capsule and ancillary products, and a decrease of $1.3 million in the provision for uncollectible sales tax at our U.S. 
subsidiary of 2005. 

     General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased by $6.3 million, or 66.0%, to $16.0 million in 2006 from $9.7 million in 
2005. This increase was primarily due to an expense of $2.8 million resulting from additional stock-options compensation expense following the adoption of 
FAS 123R, an increase of $2.3 million in salaries and fringe benefits, resulting mainly from turnover in management, an increase of $0.7 million in legal and 
other professional expenses and an increase of $0.5 million in investments in information systems. 

     Financing income, net. Financing income, net, increased by $3.2 million to $4.0 million in 2006 from $0.8 million in 2005. The increase was due mainly 
to a change in our investment policy. Financing income in 2006 was generated from interest income of $1.6 million from short-term deposits, income of 
$1.8 million from marketable securities and $0.8 million of exchange gains, offset by bank expenses of $0.3 million. 
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     Taxes on income. We had a tax expense of $0.1 million in 2006 compared to a tax benefit of $0.3 million in 2005. 

     Minority share in losses of subsidiary. Minority share in losses of a subsidiary, Given Imaging K.K., was $1.3 million in 2006 compared to $1.1 million 
in 2005. Given Imaging K.K. did not generate any significant revenues in 2005 and 2006 because at that time the Given System had not yet been approved 
for marketing by the relevant regulatory authority in Japan. 

Year Ended December 31, 2005 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004 

     Revenues. Revenues increased by $21.8 million, or 33.5%, to $86.8 million in 2005 from $65.0 million in 2004. This increase was primarily due to an 
increase of $20.9 million, or 50.2%, in PillCam SB capsule sales, an increase of $2.6 million in PillCam ESO sales and an increase of $0.4 million in service 
contract revenues. We estimate that all of the increase in revenues from sales of the PillCam SB capsule was attributable to increases in the number of 
capsules sold. In addition, we estimate that 83% of the $2.6 million increase in sales of the PillCam ESO capsule was attributable to increases in product 
sales and approximately 17% was attributable to the higher average selling price of the PillCam ESO capsules compared to 2004. These increases were 
partially offset by a decrease of $2.1 million, or 10.7%, in workstation and data recorder sales. We estimate that approximately 19% of the decrease was 
attributable to lower product sales, and 81% of the decrease was attributable to lower average selling prices resulting mainly from promotional activities 
during the year and an increase of second systems sold to existing customers, which were sold at a significantly lower price. These increases in sales of 
PillCam capsules were also partially offset by a reduction of approximately $0.1 million, or 0.7%, in selling prices resulting from changes in exchange rates 
between the U.S. dollar and other currencies. 

     Cost of revenues and gross margin. Cost of revenues increased to $22.1 million in 2005 compared to $17.7 million in 2004, but was lower in 2005 as a 
percentage of total revenues than in 2004. Consequently, gross margins were 74.6% in 2005 compared to 72.7% in 2004. The improvement in gross margins 
is attributable mainly to our efforts to reduce manufacturing costs by using advanced and lower cost components, by implementing more efficiency 
measures in our manufacturing process, and by terminating our technical services agreement with Pemstar and the resulting reduction in the scope of 
manufacturing and technical services Pemstar provides us and our payments for these services. The increase in quantities of capsules manufactured and sold 
during the year had an additional positive effect on gross margins. The improvement in gross margins was partially offset by an increase of $0.7 million in 
royalties payable to the Office of the Chief Scientist, or OCS, and an increase of $1.0 million related to manufacturing expenses, including depreciation. 

     Research and development. Gross research and development expenses increased by $1.4 million, or 20.0%, to $8.8 million in 2005 from $7.4 million in 
2004. This increase was due mainly to a $0.5 million increase related to additional personnel and employee-related expenses, an increase of $0.5 million in 
investments in R&D projects and to an increase of $0.4 million in expenses related to patent registration, maintenance and depreciation. 

     Research and development expenses, net of grants received from OCS, totaled $7.6 million in 2005, compared to $6.2 million in 2004. Grants totaling 
$1.2 million were received in 2005 compared to $1.1 million received in 2004. In both years, the grants were received for new products under development. 

     Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses increased by $9.6 million, or 28.6%, to $43.3 million in 2005 from $33.7 million in 2004. This 
increase, which was consistent with our growth in revenues, consisted primarily of an increase of $4.0 million related to the hiring of additional personnel, 
increase in salaries and other employment-related expenses, mainly in the United States, the initial payment of $2.2 million in commissions to Ethicon Endo-
Surgery for sales of our PillCam ESO capsule and ancillary products, an increase of $0.3 million due to participation in trade shows and other marketing 
events, an increase of $0.6 million due to clinical and regulatory activities in Japan of our Japanese subsidiary, Given Imaging K.K., an increase of $0.4 in 
legal and accounting expenses of our U.S. subsidiary, an increase of $0.7 million in payments to outside service providers 
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at our subsidiaries and a $1.8 million provision, before tax effect, for uncollectible sales tax at our U.S. subsidiary. 

     General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased by $2.8 million, or 39.6%, to $9.7 million in 2005 from $6.9 million in 2004. 
This increase was primarily due to an increase of $0.7 million in legal and other professional expenses related to the investigation of our failure to collect 
and remit sales tax in the United States and the implementation of remedial measures, as more fully described under Item 15 below, an increase of $0.7 
million in salaries and fringe benefits, resulting mainly from turnover in management, and an increase of $0.6 million in investments in information systems. 
Other general and administrative expenses increased by $0.8 million. 

     Financing income, net. Financing income, net, decreased by $0.2 million, or 20.3% to $0.8 million in 2005 from $1.0 million in 2004. Financing income 
in 2005 was generated from interest income of $2.4 million from short-term deposits and from marketable securities, offset by currency translation losses of 
$0.8 million, interest on sales tax of $0.5 million and bank expenses of $0.2 million. 

     Taxes on income. We had a tax benefit of $0.3 million in 2005 compared to a tax benefit of $0.7 million in 2004. 

     Minority share in losses of subsidiary. Minority share in losses of a subsidiary, Given Imaging K.K, was $1.1 million in 2005 compared to $0.7 million 
in 2004. Given Imaging K.K. did not generate any significant revenues in 2005 because at that time the Given System had not yet been approved for 
marketing by the relevant regulatory authority in Japan. 

Quarterly Results of Operations 

     We believe that some of our customers delay purchasing until the end of the fiscal quarter because they believe this will enable them to negotiate more 
favorable terms. Therefore, a significant portion of our revenues is frequently concentrated at the end of each fiscal quarter making it difficult for us to 
determine the revenues for each quarter until its end and resulting in lower than expected quarterly revenues if external or other events cause a large number 
of potential customers to defer their purchasing decisions even for a short period of time. In addition, we believe that demand for systems and capsules is 
affected by seasonal factors during the summer months when physicians and administrators are more likely to postpone purchasing decisions relating to the 
Given System due to summer vacations, and patients are more likely to postpone less urgent diagnostic procedures until later in the year. We believe that the 
seasonal effect in the third quarter may become more pronounced assuming the portion of our revenues derived from reorders continues to grow. 
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     The tables below set forth unaudited consolidated statement of operations data for each of the eight consecutive quarters ended December 31, 2006. In 
management’s opinion, the unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial 
statements contained elsewhere in this Form 20-F and include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair 
presentation of such financial information. 

 
Impact of Currency Fluctuations 

     Currency Risk. Our sales to our customers in 2006 were denominated 73% in U.S. dollars, 22% in Euros and 5% in other currencies, depending on the 
location of the customer or the distributor used to fulfill our customers’ orders. In 2006, 25% of our expenses, principally salaries and related personnel 
expenses were denominated in Shekels, and we expect this level of Shekel expenses to continue for the foreseeable future. During 2006 the U.S. dollar 
weakened against the Shekel by 8.2%. In addition, 58% of our expenses were denominated in U.S. dollars, 12% were denominated in Euros and 5% were 
denominated in Yen or other currencies. If the value of a currency in which our revenues are denominated weakens against the value of a currency in which 
our expenses are denominated, there will be a negative impact on the profit margins for sales of our products. In addition, as of December 31, 2006, 42% of 
our cash and cash equivalents were denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollar and we are therefore subject to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations 
between the U.S. dollar, Yen, the Shekel, the Australian dollar and the Euro. In 2006, we have used different hedging tools in order to minimize the effect of 
currency fluctuations on our income. If we wish to maintain the dollar-denominated value of our product in non-U.S. markets, devaluation in the local 
currencies of our customers relative to the U.S. dollar could cause our customers to cancel or decrease orders or default on payment. 

B.  LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

     From our inception through December 31, 2006, we raised a total of $151 million through public and private sales of our equity securities. As of 
December 31, 2006, we had $44.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and an additional amount of $52 million invested in marketable securities. Our 
working capital, which we calculate by subtracting our current liabilities from our current assets, was $79 million. 

     We believe that our cash reserves and expected cash from operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for working capital and capital 
expenditures in 2007. We have also applied to the Office of Chief Scientist for a grant to support our research and development activities in 2007. 
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 Three months ended

 March 31,   June 30,   Sept. 30, Dec. 31, March 31,  June 30,   Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

 2005   2005   2005 2005 2006  2006   2006 2006

         (In thousands)     
Revenue  $ 22,009  $ 20,526  $ 19,841 $ 24,400 $ 20,268 $ 23,239  $ 24,050 $ 27,472

Cost of revenues   (6,401)    (5,051)   (4,618)  (6,000)  (5,140)   (5,771)   (6,058)  (7,185)  
Gross profit   15,608   15,475  15,223 18,400 15,128  17,468  17,992 20,287

Operating expenses:              
       Research and              
           development, net.   (1,903)    (1,617)   (1,687)  (2,382)  (3,046)   (2,735)   (2,306)  (2,724)  
       Sales and marketing   (10,812)    (11,637)   (9,778)  (11,054)  (12,693)   (13,191)   (11,239)  (13,609)  
       General and              
           administrative   (2,039)    (2,435)   (2,539)  (2,644)  (3,726)   (4,118)   (4,410)  (3,773)  

Total operating expenses   (14,754)    (15,689)   (14,004)  (16,080)  (19,465)   (20,044)   (17,955)  (20,106)  
Operating profit (loss)   854   (214)   1,219 2,320 (4,337)   (2,576)   37 181

Financing income (expenses),              
   net   51   (415)   519 607 959  1,418  581 1,022

Taxes on income.   74   (16)   (53)  281 271  (45)   (254)  (99)  
Minority share in losses of              

   subsidiary   269   281  253 313 61  539  377 357

Net profit (loss)  $ 1,248  $ (364)   $ 1,938 $ 3,521 $ (3,046)  $ (664)   $ 741 $ 1,461



  

     The following table sets forth the components of our cash flows for the periods indicated: 

 

     Net cash provided by operating activities was $2.9 million in 2006, compared to $13.5 million in 2005 and $11.9 million in 2004. The decrease in net 
cash in 2006 resulted primarily from a reduction of $2.6 million in net income (excluding compensation expenses which do not have an effect on cash flow) 
to $3.7 million, compared to a net income of $6.3 million in 2005, an increase of $2.0 million in inventories, a net increase in trading securities of $5.1 
million and a decrease of $4.8 in accounts receivable due to $5.0 million received in 2006 from Ethicon Endo - Surgery for the milestone achieved in 2005 
under our agreement with Ethicon. The increase in net cash in 2005 resulted primarily from net income of $6.3 million, a $3.4 million improvement 
compared to the $2.9 million net income in 2004, and an increase of $2.4 million in inventories and of $5.8 in accounts payable due to increased sales and 
operating expenses during the year. The increase in net cash provided by operations in 2005 was partially offset by an increase of $6.1 million in our 
accounts receivable due to increased sales and a longer collection cycle in the United States due to our efforts to correct our errors in sales tax collection and 
an increase of $5.0 million in other accounts receivable due to accounting for the milestone achieved in 2005 but payable by Ethicon Endo-Surgery on or 
before April 1, 2006. 

     Net cash used in investing activities was $30.8 million in 2006 compared to $29.9 million in 2005 and $3.2 million in 2004. Investing activities in 2006 
consisted primarily of investing $24.9 million in marketable securities and $5.9 million in capital expenditures and the capitalization of costs associated with 
our patents and trademarks. Our capital expenditures in 2006 consisted primarily of $1.9 million in machinery and equipment, $0.5 million in new real 
property leases on our facilities, $1.3 million in computers and software, $0.4 million in office furniture and equipment and $1.2 million in patents. Our 
capital expenditures in 2005 consisted primarily of $2.3 million in machinery and equipment, $2.8 million in new real property leases on our facilities, $0.9 
million in computers and software, $0.5 million in office furniture and equipment and $0.9 million in patents. Our capital expenditures in 2004 consisted 
primarily of $1.4 million in machinery and equipment, $0.3 million in a new real property lease on our facilities and $0.8 million in patents. We expect to 
continue investing significant amounts in 2007 in order to support our growth plans. 

     Net cash provided by financing activities was $6.8 million in 2006, compared to $1.1 million in 2005 and $46.8 million in 2004. In 2006, net cash 
provided by financing activities resulted primarily from proceeds of $2.0 million received from the exercise of employee stock options and an amount of 
$4.8 million representing a minority investment in our Japanese subsidiary, Given Imaging K.K. In 2005, net cash provided by financing activities resulted 
primarily from proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options. The high level of net cash from financing activities in 2004 was primarily attributable 
to the completion of our follow-on public equity offering in June 2004 in which we raised net proceeds of $44.3 million. 

Market Risk 

     We invest our some of our excess cash in short-term bank accounts and deposits located with a number of banks inside and outside of Israel. These 
instruments have maturities of three months or less when acquired. Due to the short-term nature of these investments, we believe that there is no 
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2004    2005   2006  
   (In thousands)   
Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 11,868    $ 13,488   $ 2,861  
Net cash used in investing activities    (3,230)      (29,883)(1)    (30,757)(1)  
Net cash provided by financing activities    46,816      1,069    6,795  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    40      (179)    255  

Increase (decease) in cash and cash equivalents   $ 55,494    $ (15,505)   $ (20,846)  

_____________ 
(1) Includes $21.9 million net invested in marketable securities in 2005 and $24.9 million net in 2006.



  

material exposure to interest rate risk arising from our investments. We invest the majority of our excess cash in longer-term financial instruments in order to 
achieve a higher yield. Based on our investment policy, such instruments are highly rated by rating agencies and therefore we believe that there is no 
material exposure to the principal amount nor to interest rate risks arising from these longer-term investments. 

Corporate Tax 

     Israeli companies were generally subject to income tax at the corporate rate of 31% in 2006. This tax rate has been reduced to 29% in 2007 and is 
expected to be gradually reduced to a rate of 25% by 2010 As of December 31, 2006, our net operating loss carry-forwards for Israeli tax purposes amounted 
to $13.9 million. Under Israeli law, net operating losses can be carried forward indefinitely and offset against certain future taxable income. 

     In addition, our investment program in equipment and leasehold improvements at our manufacturing facility in Yoqneam, Israel has been granted 
approved enterprise status and we are, therefore, eligible for tax benefits under the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959 (the 
“Investment Law”). Subject to compliance with applicable requirements, the portion of our undistributed income derived from our approved enterprise 
program will be exempt from corporate tax for a period of ten years commencing in the first year in which we generate taxable income. The ten-year period 
may not extend beyond the later of 14 years from the year in which approval was granted or 12 years from the year in which operations or production by the 
enterprise began. We received our approved enterprise status in 1999. According to a recent reform to the Investment Law, we are permitted to claim tax 
benefits in respect of future investments retroactively on our corporate tax returns instead of filing an application for tax benefits in advance with the 
Investment Center, the administrator of the Investment Law, and without prior approval and without submitting any reports to the Investment Center. Audits 
of any claim for tax benefits will take place by the Israeli income tax authority as part of the general tax audits it may perform from time to time. We cannot 
assure you that we will receive approvals in the future for approved enterprise status or that tax benefits for approved investments will continue at current 
levels or at all. 

     The period of tax benefits for our approved enterprise programs has not yet commenced because we are yet to realize taxable income. We expect that a 
substantial portion of the income we derive in the future will be from this approved enterprise program. These benefits should result in income recognized 
by us being tax exempt for a specified period after we begin to report taxable income and exhaust any net operating loss carry-forwards. These benefits may 
not be applied to reduce the tax rate for any income that is not derived from sales of our products manufactured at our facility in Yoqneam, Israel. 

     Our approved enterprise status imposes certain requirements on us, such as the location of our manufacturing facility, location of certain subcontractors 
and the extent to which we may outsource portions of our production process. These requirements limit our freedom to pursue production arrangements that 
may otherwise be more favorable to us if we want to maintain these tax benefits. Therefore, we may be required to weigh the possible loss of these benefits 
against other benefits from pursuing arrangements which are not, or which may not be considered by the relevant Israeli authorities to be, in compliance 
with these requirements. If we do not meet these requirements, the law permits the authorities to cancel the tax benefits retroactively. 

     As of December 31, 2006, the net operating loss carry-forwards of our subsidiaries for tax purposes amounted to $26.6 million. A subsidiary’s net 
operating loss carry-forwards for tax purposes relating to a jurisdiction are generally available to offset future taxable income of such subsidiary in that 
jurisdiction, subject to applicable expiration dates. 

Government Grants 

     Our research and development efforts have been financed, in part, through grants from the Office of the Chief Scientist of the Israeli Ministry of 
Industry, Trade and Labor. We have received 
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approval for grants totaling $6.8 million from the Office of the Chief Scientist, including $1.9 million which was provided by the Office of Chief Scientist to 
support our 2006 research and development. 

     Under Israeli law, royalties on the revenues derived from sales of the Given System or any part of the Given System are payable to the Israeli 
government, generally at the rate of 3.0% during the first three years of sales and 3.5% beginning with the fourth year. The maximum aggregate royalties 
paid generally cannot exceed 100% of the grants made to us. The amount bears interest equal to the 12-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) 
applicable to dollar deposits that is published on the first business day of each calendar year. Royalties are paid on our consolidated revenues. As of 
December 31, 2006, we paid a total of $2.5 million in royalties to the Office of the Chief Scientist, leaving our remaining royalty payment obligation at $4.3 
million as of that date. 

     The government of Israel does not own proprietary rights in technology developed using its funding and there is no restriction on the export of products 
manufactured using the technology. The technology is, however, subject to other legal restrictions, including the obligation to manufacture the products 
based on this technology in Israel and to obtain the Office of the Chief Scientist’s consent to transfer the technology or product rights to a third party. These 
restrictions may impair our ability to outsource manufacturing or enter into similar arrangements for those products or technologies and these restrictions 
continue to apply even after we have paid the full amount of royalties payable for the grants. If the Office of the Chief Scientist consents to the manufacture 
of the products outside Israel, the regulations allow the Office of the Chief Scientist to require the payment of increased royalties, ranging from 120% to 
300% of the amount of the grant plus interest, depending on the percentage of foreign manufacture. If the manufacturing is performed outside of Israel by 
us, the rate of royalties payable by us on revenues from the sale of products manufactured outside of Israel will increase by 1% over the regular rates. If the 
manufacturing is performed outside of Israel by a third party, the rate of royalties payable by us on those revenues will be a percentage equal to the 
percentage of our total investment in the Given System that was funded by grants. In response to our request, the Office of the Chief Scientist has approved 
the manufacture of limited quantities of the PillCam capsules using the back-up production line that we have installed at Pemstar’s facilities in Ireland 
without increasing royalty rates. 

C.  RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

     Our research and development expenditures, excluding grants received from the Office of the Chief Scientist, were $12.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2006, $8.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and $7.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Our research and 
development activities are conducted by our research and development and regulatory affairs staff primarily at our headquarters in Israel. As of December 
31, 2006, our research and development, clinical and regulatory and engineering staff consisted of 78 employees. Our research and development efforts are 
focused primarily on developing new capsules to be used in the detection of abnormalities in the stomach and the colon, improvements to our existing 
products and new technologies for future expansion of our product offering. In 2006, we completed the development of the newest version of our AGILE 
Patency capsule and received FDA clearance to market this product in the United States in May 2006. In addition, we completed the development of RAPID 
Access and received FDA clearance for this product in May 2006. Finally, during 2006, we completed the development of the first generation PillCam 
COLON capsule for diagnosis of disorders in the colon and received the CE mark to market this product in Europe and submitted it for clearance by the 
FDA. 

     We view our innovation and focus on capsule endoscopy technology as an important competitive advantage and intend to continue our focus on research 
and development activities. During 2007, we intend to complete the development of and obtain regulatory clearance to several new or improved products. 
For example, we intend to introduce a new version of our RAPID software, RAPID 5.0, which is required for optimal performance of capsule endoscopy of 
the colon with our PillCam COLON capsule and new versions of our PillCam SB and PillCam ESO capsules, which we also expect will become 
commercially available in the second half of 2007. 
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     In addition to our own research and development activities, we are involved in government-funded research programs. One important program is our 
leadership of a European consortium that will develop an integrated imaging and bio-sensing system to screen for cancer of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. 
This “Nano-based capsule-Endoscopy with Molecular Imaging and Optical biopsy,”or NEMO project, began in December 2006. 

     In addition to Given Imaging, this consortium includes other European companies and institutions. The NEMO group will invest a total of 4.7 million 

over the next three years in this research, of which the European Commission will contribute 2.8 million. Given Imaging’s expected gross and net 
contribution during this period is 1.3 million and 0.6 million, respectively. 

     The objective of the NEMO project is to increase patient compliance with currently recommended screening guidelines by developing an advanced 
cancer screening system that is patient-friendly, highly-sensitive and specific for early detection of cancer. To achieve this, NEMO will attempt to integrate 
optical technologies with Nano-technologies, bio-sensing and maneuvering technologies to create a unique PillCam capsule endoscope capable of secretion 
analysis and the detection of marked and deep tissue disorders. We believe that the combination of the image and molecular analysis to mark the tumor may 
provide a novel and effective medical device for mass screening of gastrointestinal cancer. 

D.  TREND INFORMATION 

     See discussion in Parts A and B of Item 5 “Operating Results and Financial Review and Prospects.” 

E.  OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

     N/A 

F.  CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

     The following table of our material contractual obligations as of December 31, 2006, summarizes the aggregate effect that these obligations are expected 
to have on our cash flows in the periods indicated: 

 
(1)  Consists of capital leases for motor vehicles.  

(2)  Consists of operating leases for office and manufacturing space and motor vehicles.  

     See Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements included in this annual report for our royalty commitments to the Office of the Chief Scientist in 
Israel.  
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    Payments due by period  

Contractual obligations    Total   2007   2008   2009    2010   Later Years  

             (In thousands)          
Capital leases(1)    $  33   $ 13   $ 20   $ —           
Operating leases(2)      15,212    2,884    2,432    1,880      1,439    6,577  

Purchasing Obligations      15,138    3,808    2,329    2,250      2,250    4,500  

Total    $  30,383   $ 6,705   $ 4,781   $ 4,130    $ 3,689   $ 11,077  



  

 

 
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders  
Given Imaging Ltd.: 

     We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Given Imaging Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 
and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period 
ended December 31, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s Board of Directors and of its management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 

     We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements presentation. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

     In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and 
its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three year 
period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

     As discussed in Note 1K to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Company has adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standard No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment”. 

  

Tel-Aviv, Israel 
April 12, 2007 
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Somekh Chalkin  Telephone  972 3 684 8000  
KPMG Millennium Tower  Fax  972 3 684 8444  
17 Ha’arba’a Street, PO Box 609  Internet  www.kpmg.co.iI  
Tel Aviv 61006 Israel     

 
Somekh Chaikin 
Certified Public Accountants (Israel)  
Member Firm of KPMG International 



  

Given Imaging Ltd. and its Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(In thousands except per share data) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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       December 31  

   Note   2005   2006  

Assets              
Current assets              
Cash and cash equivalents   1D; 2   $ 65,356   $ 44,510  
Short-term investments   5     288    17,245  
Accounts receivable:              
     Trade, net   1E     18,325    18,887  
     Other   3     6,264    1,463  
Inventories   1F; 4     16,172    18,168  
Advances to suppliers         332    82  
Deferred taxes.   1P; 14C     1,219    1,374  

Prepaid expenses         1,020    1,340  

Total current assets         108,976    103,069  
Deposits         401    469  
Assets held for employees’ severance payments   1G; 10     1,690    1,984  
Marketable securities   1H; 5     21,664    34,769  
Fixed assets, at cost, less accumulated depreciation   1I; 6     13,862    14,811  

Other assets, at cost, less accumulated amortization   1J; 7     2,517    3,075  

  

Total Assets      $ 149,110   $ 158,177  



  

Given Imaging Ltd. and its Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(In thousands except share data) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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          December 31  

   Note   2005   2006  
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity                 
Current liabilities                 
Current installments of obligation under capital lease   8B     $  11   $  13  
Accounts payable:                 
     Trade          5,529    5,550  
     Other   9       13,886    14,620  

Deferred income   1N; 8C       3,333    3,871  

Total current liabilities          22,759    24,054  
  
Long-term liabilities                 
Deferred income   8C       22,172    20,411  
Obligation under capital lease.   8B       34    20  

Liability in respect of employees’ severance payments   10       2,040    2,407  

Total long-term liabilities.          24,246    22,838  

Total liabilities          47,005    46,892  
  
Commitments and contingencies.   8              
Minority interest          61    3,499  
Shareholders’ equity                 
Share capital:   11              
Ordinary Shares, NIS 0.05 par value each (90,000,000 shares                 
   authorized as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, 27,950,281 and                 
   28,641,291 shares issued and fully paid as of December 31, 2005                 
   and 2006, respectively)          327    335  
Additional paid-in capital          148,955    156,197  
Capital reserve          2,166    2,166  

Accumulated deficit          (49,404)   (50,912)  

Total shareholders’ equity          102,044    107,786  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity        $  149,110   $ 158,177  



  

Given Imaging Ltd. and its Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 
(In thousands except share and per share data) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Year Ended December 31,

   Note 2004  2005 2006

 
Revenues  1N; 12 $  65,020  $  86,776 $  95,029

Cost of revenues  17,734   22,070 24,154

Gross profit  47,286   64,706 70,875

Operating expenses      
Research and development, gross  1Q (7,363)    (8,833)  (12,678)  

Royalty bearing government grants  1O; 8A 1,140   1,244 1,867

Research and development, net  (6,223)    (7,589)  (10,811)  
Sales and marketing  (33,652)    (43,281)  (50,732)  

General and administrative  (6,916)    (9,657)  (16,027)  

Total operating expenses  (46,791)    (60,527)  (77,570)  
Operating profit (loss)  495   4,179 (6,695)  

Financial income, net  13 956   762 3,980

Profit (loss) before taxes on income and minority      
   share  1,451   4,941 (2,715)  

Taxes on income  1P, 14 690   286 (127)  
Profit (loss) before minority share  2,141   5,227 (2,842)  

Minority share in losses of subsidiary  747   1,116 1,334

Net profit (loss)  $  2,888  $  6,343 $  (1,508)  

Profit (loss) per share      

Basic profit (loss) per Ordinary Share  1L $  0.11  $  0.23 $  (0.05)  

Diluted profit (loss) per Ordinary Share  $  0.10  $  0.21 $  (0.05)  

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares      
   used to compute basic profit (loss) per      

   Ordinary Share  1L 26,633,964   27,781,223 28,053,849

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares      
   used to compute diluted profit (loss) per      

   Ordinary Share  1L 29,353,448   29,695,164 28,053,849



  

Given Imaging Ltd. and its Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
(In thousands except share data) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  Additional

  Ordinary shares  Paid-In Capital  Unearned  Accumulated

  Shares   Amount  Capital Reserve Compensation Deficit Total

 
Balance as of December 31, 2003   25,649,188   $ 301  $ 100,996 $ 2,166  $ (30)  $ (58,635)  $ 44,798

Changes during the year 2004:          
Ordinary shares issued   1,500,000    17  44,250 —  —  — 44,267

Exercise of stock options   472,198    5  2,581 —  —  — 2,586

Forfeiture of stock options   —    —  (11)  —  3  — (8)  
Non-employees’ stock options   —    —  62 —  —  — 62

Amortization of unearned          
   compensation   —    —  — —  24  — 24

Net profit   —    —  — —  —  2,888 2,888

Balance as of December 31, 2004   27,621,386   $ 323  $ 147,878 $ 2,166  $ (3)  $ (55,747)  $ 94,617

Changes during the year 2005:          
Exercise of stock options   328,895    4  1,077 —  —  — 1,081

Amortization of unearned          
   compensation   —    —  — —  3  — 3

Net profit   —    —  — —  —  6,343 6,343

Balance as of December 31, 2005   27,950,281   $ 327  $ 148,955 $ 2,166  $ — $ (49,404)  $ 102,044

Changes during the year 2006:          
Exercise of stock options   591,010    7  2,029 —  —  — 2,036

Restricted shares issued   100,000    1  — —  —  — 1

Stock based compensation   —    —  5,213 —  —  — 5,213

Net loss   —    —  — —  —  (1,508)  (1,508)  

Balance as of December 31, 2006   28,641,291   $ 335  $ 156,197 $ 2,166  $ — $ (50,912)  $ 107,786



  

Given Imaging Ltd. and its Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(In thousands) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Year Ended December 31,

 2004   2005 2006

Cash flows from operating activities:      
Net profit (loss)  $ 2,888  $ 6,343 $ (1508)  
Adjustments required to reconcile net profit (loss) to net cash      
   provided by operating activities:      
Minority share in losses of subsidiary  (747)    (1,116)  (1,334)  
Depreciation and amortization.  3,147   3,596 4,237

Deferred taxes.  (737)    (482)  (155)  
Employees’ stock option compensation  16   3 5,213

Non-employees’ stock option compensation  62   — —

Other  48   98 18

Net increase in trading securities  —   — (5,060)  
Increase in accounts receivable–trade  (5,316)    (6,064)  (562)  
Decrease (increase) in other accounts receivable  (804)    (4,993)  4,801

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses  360   (66)  (320)  
Decrease (increase) in advances to suppliers  (508)    223 250

Increase in inventories  (5,648)    (2,378)  (1,996)  
Increase in accounts payable  7,107   5,769 500

Increase (decrease) in deferred income  12,000   12,555 (1,223)  

Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 11,868  $ 13,488 $ 2,861

 
Cash flows from investing activities:      
Purchase of fixed assets and other assets  $ (3,245)   $ (7,948)  $ (5,876)  
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets  57   — —

Deposits, net  (42)    (16)  (41)  
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities  —   — 13,120

Investments in marketable securities  —   (21,919)  (37,960)  

Net cash used in investing activities  $ (3,230)   $ (29,883)  $ (30,757)  
 
Cash flows from financing activities:      
Principal payments on capital lease obligation  $ (37)   $ (12)  $ (14)  
Proceeds from the issuance of Ordinary Shares  46,853   1,081 2,037

Issuance of shares by consolidated company  —   — 4,772

Net cash provided by financing activities  $ 46,816  $ 1,069 $ 6,795

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  $ 40  $ (179)  $ 255

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  $ 55,494  $ (15,505)  $ (20,846)  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  25,367   80,861 65,356

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 80,861  $ 65,356 $ 44,510

Supplementary cash flow information      

Income taxes paid  $ 107  $ 163 $ 300



  

Given Imaging Ltd. and its Subsidiaries 

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements 
(In thousands except share and per share data) 

Note 1—Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

A. General 

     Given Imaging Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Israel in January 1998.  

     The Company has developed the Given System, a proprietary wireless imaging system that represents a new approach to visual examination of the 
gastrointestinal tract. The system uses a miniaturized video camera contained in a capsule, referred to as the PillCam capsule, which is ingested by the 
patient and delivers high quality color images in a painless and noninvasive manner. 

     The Given System consists of three principal components: 

z a single-use, disposable PillCam color-imaging capsule that is ingested by the patient; 

z a portable data recorder and array of sensors that are worn by the patient; and 

z a computer workstation with a proprietary RAPID software for downloading, processing and analyzing recorded data. 

     After receiving marketing clearance from the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in August of 2001, the Company commenced the 
marketing of the Given System with its first video capsule, the PillCam Small Bowel Capsule, or PillCam SB, for detection of disorders of the small bowel. 
In November 2004, following receipt of FDA marketing clearance, the Company began marketing and sales of its second video capsule, PillCam ESO, for 
detection of disorders in the esophagus. The Company markets the PillCam ESO capsule through a strategic marketing alliance with InScope, a division of 
Ethicon Endo-Surgery, a Johnson & Johnson company (see Note 8C). In late 2006, the Company completed the development of its third video capsule, 
PillCam Colon, for visual examination of the colon and received the regulatory clearance that permits the Company to market and sell this capsule in 
Europe. The Company has also submitted this capsule for FDA clearance in the United States. 

     The medical device industry in which the Company is involved is characterized by the risks of regulatory barriers and reimbursement issues. Penetration 
into the world market requires the investment of considerable resources and continuous development efforts. The Company’s future success is dependent 
upon several factors including technological quality, regulatory approvals, sufficient reimbursement for its products and the cost and diagnostic-
effectiveness of its products compared to other methods for the examination of the gastrointestinal tract. 

B. Basis of presentation 

     The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries in the United States, Germany, France, the Netherlands and 
Australia and its 51% owned subsidiary in Japan. The accounts of its subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their inception. All the subsidiaries were 
established for the purpose of marketing and selling the Given System. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
The Company considers that it operates in only one segment. 

C. Functional and reporting currency 

     The Company’s functional and reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. 

     Transactions denominated in foreign currencies other than the U.S. dollar are translated into the functional currency using current exchange rates. Gains 
and losses from the translation of foreign currency transactions are recorded in other income or expenses. 
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Given Imaging Ltd. and its Subsidiaries 

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued) 
(In thousands except share and per share data) 

D. Cash and cash equivalents 

     All highly-liquid investments with original maturity of three months or less from the date of deposit are considered to be cash equivalents. 

E. Provision for doubtful accounts receivable 

     The provision for doubtful accounts receivable is calculated on the basis of specific identification of balances, the collection of which, in management’s 
opinion, is doubtful. In determining the adequacy of the provision, management bases its opinion on the estimated risk, in reliance on available information 
with respect to the debtor’s financial position and an evaluation of the collateral received. 

     The activity in the provision for doubtful accounts for the three years ended December 31, 2006 is as follows: 

 
F. Inventories 

     Inventories are stated at lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the average cost method for raw materials and components and finished goods 
and on the basis of actual manufacturing costs for work in progress. 

G. Assets held for employees’ severance payments 

     Assets held for employees’ severance payments represent contributions to insurance policies that are recorded at their current redemption value. 

H. Marketable securities 

     The Company accounts for marketable securities under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 115 “Accounting for Certain 
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities (“Statement 115”). Marketable securities consist of U.S. government bonds and corporate bonds, which the 
Company classified as “held to maturity” and auction rate securities and money market funds, which the Company classified as “trading”, all in accordance 
with the guidance of statement 115. 

     Held-to-maturity debt securities are securities that the Company has the ability and intent to hold until maturity and are recorded at amortized cost, 
adjusted for the amortization or accretion of premiums or discounts. Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted over the life of the related held-to-
maturity security as an adjustment to yield using the effective-interest method. 

     Trading securities are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term. Trading securities are recorded at fair value and 
changes in the fair value, based on closing market prices of the at balance sheet date, represent unrealized gains and losses which are included in earnings. 
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2004   2005    2006  

Opening balance   $  —   $115    $431  

Additions during the year.   115   316    356  

Closing balance   $115   $431    $787  



  

Given Imaging Ltd. and its Subsidiaries 

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued) 
(In thousands except share and per share data) 

     A decline in the market value of any “held-to-maturity” security below cost that is deemed to be other than temporary results in a reduction in the 
carrying amount to fair value. The impairment is charged to earnings and a new cost basis for the security is established. 

I. Fixed assets 

     Fixed assets are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets at the following annual 
rates: 

 

     Motor vehicles purchased under capital lease arrangements are recorded at the present value of the minimum lease payments at lease inception. Such 
assets and leasehold improvements are depreciated and amortized respectively, using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or estimated 
useful life of the asset. 

     The Company accounts for long-lived assets and certain intangible assets in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the 
Impairment of or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“Statement 144”). This Statement requires that long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets 
be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to undiscounted future net cash flows expected 
to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. 

35

Given Imaging–6-K 
Command Financial Press (49097)

Saved: 06/21/2007-14:07:34 • Printed: 6/22/2007-04:48:36 
W:\OTHER (A to M)\49097_Given Imaging\Edgar\6-K\c49097_ex99-1.htm

Sequence: 42 
Rev: 1

   %  
Computers and software   33  
Instruments and laboratory equipment   15  
Leasehold improvements   10  
Motor vehicles   15  
Machinery and equipment.   15  
Communication equipment.   15  
Office furniture and equipment   10–15  

J. Other assets 
 
a. The Company developed proprietary software for its computer workstations that permits downloading and viewing recorded data from the portable data 

recorder. The costs of developing this software were capitalized in accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for Costs of Computer Software to be 
Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed” (“Statement 86”). As such, capitalization of software development costs begins upon the establishment of 
technological feasibility as defined in Statement 86 and continues up to the time the software is available for general release to customers, at which time 
capitalized software costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected life of the related product, which is generally five years.

 
b. Legal expenses related to patent and trademark registration have been capitalized and amortized over the remaining life of the asset, which is generally 

eight years. 
 
c. Technology and content costs are generally expensed as incurred, except for certain costs relating to the development of the Company’s web site that 

are capitalized and amortized over their estimated useful lives which are generally three years.
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K. Stock compensation plans 

Employees and directors 

     Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 
No. 123R”). This Statement requires compensation expense relating to share-based payments to be recognized in net income using a fair-value measurement 
method. Under the fair value method, the estimated fair value of awards is charged to income on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which 
is generally the vesting period. The Company elected the modified-prospective method and therefore prior periods were not restated. Under the modified-
prospective method, compensation costs recognized in 2006 include also compensation costs for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet 
vested, as of December 31, 2005. 

     Stock-based compensation recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 is based on awards ultimately 
expected to vest. As a result the expense has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123R required forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant 
and revised, in necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. In the Company’s pro forma information required under 
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123”) for the periods prior to fiscal 2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures 
as they occurred. 

     The effect of the implementation of SFAS No. 123R was to increase expenses by $5,213, which changed the profit before taxes and net profit to losses 
by the same amount. The per share effect $(0.19) was to turn the basic and diluted earnings per share into loss per share. 

     Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company has followed SFAS No. 123, which permitted entities to recognize as an expense over the vesting period, the fair 
value on the date of grant of all stock-based awards. Alternatively, Statement 123 allowed entities to continue to apply the provisions of Accounting 
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and related interpretations” (“APB Opinion No. 25”) and provide pro forma 
net income and pro forma earnings per share disclosures for employee stock option grants as if the fair-value based method defined in Statement 123 had 
been applied. 

     The Company elected to apply the intrinsic value-based method prescribed in APB Opinion No. 25 for its stock compensation to employees and 
directors and provide the pro forma disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - 
Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of SFAS No. 123”. 

     As such, the Company computed and recorded compensation expense for grants whose terms were fixed with respect to the number of shares and option 
price only if the market price on the date of grant exceeded the exercise price of the stock option. The compensation cost for the fixed plans was recorded 
over the period the employee performs the service to which the stock compensation relates. 
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     The following table shows the effect on net profit and profit per Ordinary Share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of 
Statement 123: 

 
Non-Employees 

     Effective January 1, 2006, the Company applies the provisions of SFAS No. 123R to account for stock based compensation to non-employees. Prior to 
January 1, 2006, the Company applied the fair value-based method of accounting set forth in Statement 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue 
No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services”
for such compensation expenses. Using the fair value method, the total compensation expense is computed based on the fair value of the options on the date 
the options are granted to the non-employees and are recognized over the vesting period. 

     The Company recorded compensation expense of $62 in the year ended December 31, 2004 related to the above options. There were no such expenses in 
2005 or 2006. 

L.  Profit (loss) per Ordinary Share 

     Basic and diluted profit (loss) per Ordinary Share is presented in conformity with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”, for all years presented. Basic 
profit (loss) per Ordinary Share is calculated by dividing the net profit (loss) attributable to Ordinary Shares, by the weighted average number of Ordinary 
Shares outstanding. Diluted profit (loss) per Ordinary share calculation is similar to Basic Earnings Per Share except that the weighed average of common 
shares outstanding is increased to include the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares 
from options had been exercised. 
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2004  2005  
Net profit as reported   $  2,888   $  6,343  
—Compensation expenses according to APB 25 included in the            
    reported net profit     16    3  

—Application of compensation expenses according to Statement 123.     (13,432)    (10,327)  

Pro forma net loss.   $  (10,528)   $ (3,981)  

Basic profit (loss) per Ordinary Share:            

As reported   $  0.11  $  0.23

Pro forma   $  (0.39)   $  (0.14)  

Diluted profit (loss) per ordinary share:            

As reported   $  0.10  $  0.21

Pro forma   $  (0.39)   $  (0.14)  
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     The following table summarizes information related to the computation of basic and diluted profit (loss) per Ordinary Share for the years indicated. 

 
M. Use of estimates 

     The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management of the Company to make a number of estimates and assumptions relating 
to the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

N. Revenue recognition 

     Revenues from sales of products are recognized upon delivery provided that the collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured, there is 
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, no significant obligations in respect of installation remain and the price is fixed or determinable. 

     For sales contracts, which include a Post Contract Customer Support (“PCS”) component, revenues allocated to PCS in accordance with EITF 00-21 
“Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”, are deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the support period, which is generally one year. 

     The Company accrues estimated warranty costs at time of shipment based on contractual rights and historical experience. The Company’s policy is not 
to grant return rights. 

     Taxes collected from customers and remitted to Governmental Authorities are presented in the financial statements on a net basis. 

     The Company routinely evaluates its products for inclusion of any embedded software that is more than incidental thereby requiring consideration of 
AICPA Statements of Position 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition”. Based on such evaluation, the Company has concluded that none of its products have 
such embedded software. 

O. Government-Sponsored Research and Development 

     The Company records grants received from the Office of the Chief Scientist of the Israeli Ministry of Industry and Trade (the “OCS”) as a reduction of 
research and development expenses. 
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2004    2005   2006  
Net profit (loss) attributable to Ordinary Shares   $  2,888    $  6,343   $  (1,508)  
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares               
   outstanding Used in basic profit (loss) per Ordinary               
   Share calculation    26,633,964      27,781,223    28,053,849  
Add assumed exercise of outstanding dilutive potential               

   Ordinary Shares    2,719,484      1,913,941    —  
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares               
   outstanding Used in diluted profit (loss) per               

   Ordinary Share calculation    29,353,448      29,695,164    28,053,849  
  

Basic profit (loss) per Ordinary Share   $  0.11    $  0.23   $  (0.05)  

  

Diluted profit (loss) per Ordinary Share   $  0.10    $  0.21   $  (0.05)  

  
Number of options excluded from the diluted earning               

   per share calculation because of anti-dilutive effect    165,500      2,448,114    4,114,604
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     Royalties payable to OCS are recognized pursuant to sale of related products and are classified under cost of revenues. 

P. Taxes on income 

     The Company accounts for income taxes under SFAS No. 109 “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“Statement 109”). 

     Under Statement 109 deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their financial reporting amounts as well as in respect of tax losses and other deductions which may be deductible for tax purposes in future years, based 
on enacted statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which such deferred taxes will be realized. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to 
reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. 

Q. Research and development costs 

     Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. 

R. Allowance for product warranty 

     It is the Company’s policy to grant a warranty for certain products. The balance sheet provision for warranties for all periods through December 31, 2006 
is determined based upon the Company’s experience regarding the relationship between sales and warranty expenses. 

S. Concentration of credit risk 

     Financial instruments that may subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, trade 
accounts receivable and marketable securities. 

     Cash and cash equivalents are deposited with major financial institutions in Europe, the United States, Japan, Australia and Israel. 

     The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers. The risk of collection associated with trade receivables is 
reduced by the large number and geographical dispersion of the Company’s customer base and the Company’s policy of requiring collateral or security with 
respect to receivables due from distributors. 

T. Recent accounting pronouncements 

     In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - 
an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. This Interpretation prescribes a 
recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a 
tax return. This Interpretation also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. This 
Interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of FIN 48 on its consolidated 
financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 
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Note 2—Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
Note 3—Accounts Receivable—Other 

 
Note 5—Marketable Securities 

     As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, marketable securities consist U.S. government bonds and corporate bonds, which the Company classified as “held-
to-maturity” (“the Bonds”). As of December 31, 2006, marketable securities also included auction rate securities and money market funds, which are 
classified as “trading”. 

     The amortized cost, gross unrealized losses and fair value of the “held-to-maturity” Bonds by major interest type were as follows: 
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   Interest rate         
   as of         

   December 31     December 31  

   2006        2005      2006  

   %         
Denominated in U.S. dollars   5.15–5.26    $ 57,912   $ 25,794  
Denominated in New Israeli Shekels   4.7–5.0      2,855    3,099  
Denominated in Euro.   2.95      3,396    7,766  
Denominated in Australian dollars        732    469  

Denominated in Japanese Yen.        461    7,382  

      $ 65,356   $ 44,510  

   December 31  

   2005    2006  

                     Government institutions   $ 921    $ 1,389  
                     InScope (Note 8C)    5,000      —  

                     Other    343      74  

   $ 6,264    $ 1,463  

  
  
Note 4—Inventories       
  

   December 31  

   2005    2006  

                     Raw materials and components   $ 7,399    $ 7,721  
                     Work in progress    3,251      3,533  

                     Finished goods    5,522      6,914  

   $ 16,172    $ 18,168  

   December 31, 2006 

   Amortized   
Gross 

Unrealized     Fair  

   Cost   Holding Losses     Value  

Up to 5%   $ 33,574   $ (601)    $ 32,973  

5.1%–6%, 8.125%    13,380    (212)      13,168  

   $ 46,954   $ (813)    $ 46,141  
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          Maturities of the “held-to-maturity” Bonds were as follows at December 31, 2006 and 2005: 

 

     As of December 31, 2006, marketable securities also included $5,060 in bonds classified as “trading” (2005 - $0). These investments are subject to price 
volatility associated with any interest-bearing instrument. Net realized gains on trading securities during the year ended December 31, 2006 were $133, and 
are included in financial income. Net unrealized losses on trading securities held as of December 31, 2006 were $15 and are included in financial income. 

          Short-term investments are comprised of: 
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   December 31, 2005

   Amortized     Gross Unrealized  Fair  

   Cost     Holding Losses  Value  

3.375%–4.3%   $ 17,697    $ (198)  $ 17,499  

5.9%–6%    4,255          (86)      4,169  

   $ 21,952    $ (284)  $ 21,668  

   Amortized     Fair  

   Cost     Value  

   2006     2006  

Current maturities   $ 12,185    $ 12,063  

Due after one year through five years    34,769     34,078  

   $ 46,954    $ 46,141  

  
   Amortized     Fair  

   Cost     Value  

   2005     2005  

Current maturities   $      288    $      284  

Due after one year through five years    21,664     21,384  

   $ 21,952    $ 21,668  

   December 31  

   2005     2006  

Current maturities of “held-to-maturity” securities   $ 288    $ 12,185  

Trading securities     —     5,060  

   $ 288    $ 17,245  
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Note 6—Fixed Assets, at Cost, Less Accumulated Depreciation 

 
Note 7—Other Assets, at Cost, Less Accumulated Amortization 

 

       Amortization expenses for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 were $586, $660 and $638, respectively.. Estimated amortization 
expense for the next five years is: $573 in 2007, $560 in 2008, $516 in 2009, $453 in 2010, and $381 in 2011. 

Note 8—Commitments and Contingencies 

A.  Office of the Chief Scientist Grants 

     The Company’s research and development efforts have been partially financed through grants from the Office of the Chief Scientist of the Israeli 
Ministry of Industry and Trade (the “OCS”). In return for the OCS’s participation, the Company is committed to pay royalties to the Israeli Government at 
the rate of 3% for each of the first three years and, from the fourth year onwards, at the rate of 3.5% of the sales of its product, up to 100% of the amount of 
the grants received, plus LIBOR interest. The grants are presented as an off-set to related research and development expenses. The Company is entitled to 
the grants only upon incurring research and development expenditures. There are no future performance obligations related to the grants received from the 
OCS. However, under certain limited circumstances, the OCS may withdraw its approval of a research program or amend the terms of its approval. 

           Upon withdrawal of approval, the grant recipient may be required to refund the grant, in whole or in part, with or without interest, as the OCS 
determines. As of December 31, 2006, the Company has received from the OCS office a total cumulative amount of $6,751 of which 
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     December 31  

   2005      2006  
Computers and software.   $ 4,942    $ 6,234  
Instruments and laboratory equipment     682     791  
Leasehold improvements     3,847     4,259  
Motor vehicles.     55     155  
Machinery and equipment     12,702     14,952  
Communication equipment     388     418  

Office furniture and equipment     1,273     1,248  
Fixed assets     23,889     28,057  

Accumulated depreciation    (10,027)     (13,246)  

Fixed assets less accumulated depreciation   $ 13,862    $ 14,811  
     
Depreciation expenses for the years ended December 31,              
   2004, 2005 and 2006 were $2,561, $2,936 and $3,599,              
   respectively.              

     December 31  

     2005       2006  
Software development costs   $ 647    $ 647  
Patents and trademarks     3,425     4,594  

Web site application     895     922  
Other assets     4,967     6,163  

Accumulated amortization     (2,450)     (3,088)  

Other assets, net   $ 2,517    $ 3,075  
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the Company has already repaid $2,534 as royalties. The total outstanding future obligation, for royalties, based on royalty-bearing government participation 
totaled, before interest, approximately $4,217 as of December 31, 2006. Royalties payable to the OCS are recognized pursuant to sale of related products 
and are classified under cost of revenues. 

B. Leases 

Capital lease for motor vehicles 

     The capital lease is to be repaid in five years and bears interest of 7.47%. The vehicles are pledged as collateral. 

Operating leases 

     The Company and its subsidiaries currently lease office space and manufacturing space for periods of up to 15 years (including options to extend the 
terms of the leases). The current lease for the Company’s headquarters is in Yoqneam, Israel. This facility houses the Company’s corporate headquarters, 
research and development and manufacturing facilities. Under this lease agreement, the Company will pay approximately $1,300 a year in rent and 
management fee. These payments are subject to adjustments based on changes in the Israeli Consumer Price Index. In addition, to secure its obligations 
under the lease, the Company provided a bank guaranty in the amount of approximately $750 in favor of the lessor. The lease expires on December 31, 
2015. The Company has an option to extend the lease until December 31, 2020. 

     The Company and its subsidiaries signed several motor vehicle lease agreements. The companies deposited a total amount of $196 to guarantee their 
performance under the terms of the lease agreements. 

     The Company is committed to minimum annual payments over the next five years as follows: 

 

     Rental expenses under the lease agreements for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 were $1,999, $2,353 and $2,914, respectively. 

C. Agreement with InScope 

     On May 10, 2004, the Company entered into an exclusive sales representation, co-promotion and cooperation agreement with InScope, a division of 
Ethicon Endo-Surgery, a Johnson & Johnson company. InScope has exclusive rights to market the Company’s PillCam ESO capsule for visual examination 
of the esophagus. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company received, as of December 31, 2006, milestone payments of $25,000. The Company pays 
InScope a commission of 50% on sales of PillCam ESO capsules and a 10% commission on sales of capital equipment parts of the Given System, such as 
workstations and portable data recorders. According to a September 2006 amendment to the original agreement, the payment by InScope to the Company of 
the remaining $25,000 milestone payment originally due February 2007, plus 7% interest, will be made in six equal annual installments of $5,240 each, 
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   Capital leases     Operating leases  

2007   $ 13    $ 2,884  
2008    20     2,432  
2009    —     1,880  
2010    —     1,439  

2011 and thereafter.    —     6,577  

   $ 33    $ 15,212  
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beginning in January 2008. Beginning in 2009, the remaining installments at any given time may be accelerated and paid sooner if one or more 
reimbursement or commission thresholds are achieved. In addition, pursuant to this amendment, the 10% commission the Company pays InScope on sales of 
capital equipment parts of the Given System will be paid only in respect of capital equipment sold to customers that use this equipment to perform 
procedures with the PillCam ESO capsule. InScope will fund certain reimbursement and clinical study activities concerning the PillCam ESO capsule. 

     Subject to achieving specified minimum sales targets and meeting certain conditions, the exclusive term of the agreement will continue for up to 11 
years, followed by a four-year co-exclusive transition period with the Company. 

     All milestone payments received have been deferred and are being systematically recognized, on a straight-line basis, by the Company as a reduction of 
commission expense over the 15 year term of the agreement. 

     Milestone payments are included under deferred income in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

D. Agreements with key single—source suppliers and commitments to suppliers 

     In July 2005, the Company agreed with the Canadian Company that it will develop and manufacture an additional version of the component. The 
minimum purchase requirements will not apply to this version. In addition, the initial term of the agreement was extended until April 2012, subject to earlier 
termination in specified circumstances, with the option to extend annually thereafter for up to five years. 

     In February 2006, the Company signed an amendment to this agreement and agreed that the Supplier will develop and manufacture an enhanced version 
of the component. This amendment also extended the initial term of the agreement until November 2012, with an option to extend that term by mutual 
agreement. The Company has agreed to purchase the enhanced component only from the Supplier and the Supplier has agreed to sell the component 
exclusively to the Company. 
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(1)   In 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with a Canadian company (“Canadian Company”) that supplies a component that is integrated into the 
PillCam capsules. Under the agreement, the Company has agreed to purchase a minimum quantity of components during the first 36 months following 
the development and testing phase, and if it fails to do so it must make certain payments to the Canadian Company in respect of the shortfall. The 
agreement also includes non-compete provisions prohibiting the Canadian company from selling the component to other parties and, for a certain period 
of time following termination of the agreement, from transferring any of the intellectual property and design specifications associated with the 
development of the component to any potential competitors in the Company’s market. The initial term of the agreement was scheduled to expire in 
April 2007. 

(2)   The Company is a party to a development, manufacturing and supply agreement with another supplier (“Supplier”), under which the Supplier has 
developed a component, that is integrated into the PillCam capsules and is also manufacturing and supplying this component exclusively to the 
Company. Under this contract, the Supplier may not offer the component as a standard catalog part. In the event that the Supplier ceases operations or 
enters into liquidation, the Company is entitled to receive all information necessary to manufacture the component upon the payment of reasonable 
royalties to be agreed upon with the Supplier. The agreement permits the Supplier to disregard the exclusive sales requirement if the Company fails to 
purchase agreed-upon minimum quantities. 
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     Payments under such agreements with suppliers for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 were $3,723, $8,568 and $8,875 respectively. 

E. Patent Litigation 

     On May 19, 2006, Olympus Corporation, Olympus Medical Systems Corp. and Olympus America Inc., collectively referred to in this section as 
“Olympus”, filed a complaint against the Company in the District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. In the complaint, Olympus alleged that the 
Company’s capsule endoscopes infringe one of its patents (“Olympus Patent”). The Olympus Patent will expire in December 2008. In addition, Olympus 
seeks a declaratory judgment that its endoscope product will not infringe the Company’s’ first U.S. Patent, known as the ‘531 patent, and that the ‘531 patent 
is invalid. In its complaint, Olympus requested an injunction that will prevent the Company from selling in the United States any product that infringes on 
the Olympus Patent as well as damages in an unspecified amount. 

     The Company filed its answer and counterclaim on October 20, 2006. In this answer and counterclaim the Company denied infringement of the Olympus 
Patent and that the Olympus Patent is invalid. In addition, the Company alleged that the ‘531 patent is valid and will be infringed by Olympus once it begins 
marketing and selling its capsule endoscopy product in the United States. The Company also alleged that Olympus will infringe three other Company 
patents. In the complaint, the Company requested an injunction to prevent Olympus from selling in the United States any product that infringes on the 
Company’s patents. If Olympus sells its capsule endoscopy system in the United States, the Company may also request the assessment of damages. 

     On March 30, 2007 Olympus filed an amended complaint asserting that the Company’s capsule endoscopes infringe three additional patents owned by it. 
The Company is examining the amended complaint and will file its answer with the court within the time period permitted by the applicable procedural 
rules. 

     The Company believes it has a reasonable chance of success in this case. However, litigation is in early stages and the outcome is uncertain at this time. 
The ongoing litigation and any unfavorable outcome may have an adverse effect on the Company’s results of operation. 

F. Provision for Sales Tax 

     During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company made a provision of $1,800 for potential uncollectible sales tax, interest and penalties resulting 
from the failure of the Company’s U.S. subsidiary to appropriately collect and remit sales tax on sales in the U.S. since the fourth quarter of 2001. The 
provision represented the Company’s estimate of the amounts it might not collect from its customers for remittance to the different jurisdictions, and any 
interest and penalties the Company may have to pay for failure to timely remit the sales tax. During 2005 and 2006 the Company has all required sales and 
use tax returns and collected tax 
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(3)   The Company’s annual commitments under agreements with suppliers for the next 5 years are as follows:

 
2007    $ 3,808  
2008     2,329  
2009     2,250  
2010     2,250  

2011 and thereafter     4,500  

    $ 15,137  
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amounts from its customers. As of December 31, 2006, accounts payable included $702 representing sales and use taxes, interest and penalties remaining to 
be resolved. 

G. Investment in the Japanese Subsidiary 

     In 2006, the Company and its Japanese partners completed additional equity financing of approximately $9.6 million (in Japanese YEN) to finance the 
operations of Given Imaging K.K., the Company’s Japanese subsidiary, until it starts generating enough cash to finance its operations. The Company’s 
portion of the funding of approximately $4.8 million was paid out of its cash reserves. Following completion of this additional equity financing, the 
Company continues to have a controlling interest of 51% of its Japanese subsidiary 

Note 9—Accounts Payable – Other 

 
Note 10—Liability in Respect of Employee Severance Payments 

     Under Israeli law and labor agreements the Company is required to pay severance payments to each employee who was employed by the Company for 
over one year and has been terminated by the Company or resigned under certain specified circumstances. The Company’s liability for severance payments 
is covered mainly by deposits with insurance companies in the name of the employee and/or by purchase of insurance policies. The liability is calculated on 
the basis of the latest salary of the employee multiplied by the number of years of employment as of the balance sheet date. The liability for employee 
severance payments included in the balance sheet represents the total amount due for such severance payment, while the assets held for severance benefits 
included in the balance sheet represents the Company’s contributions to insurance policies. The Company may make withdrawals from the funds only upon 
complying with the Israeli severance pay law or labor agreements. 

     The U.S. subsidiary has a defined contribution retirement plan for its employees. Employees are allowed to contribute up to 18% of their salary in any 
one year, subject to a regulatory limit. The Company contributes 3% of an employee’s salary subject to regulatory limits. Employees are vested in the 
Company’s contributions after 30 days of employment. 

     Expenses recorded in respect of employee severance payments for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 are $525, $664 and $862, 
respectively. 
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     December 31  

   2005   2006  

Government institutions   $ 3,693   $ 2,137  
Liabilities regarding employees.     4,700    6,863  
Advances from customers     39    58  
Warranty     71    102  
Royalties to the OCS     306    214  
Commissions     2,161    2,057  

Accrued expenses     2,916    3,189  

   $ 13,886   $ 14,620  
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Note 11—Share Capital 

     A. Ordinary shares 

     All of the issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares of the Company are authorized, issued, fully paid and non-assessable. The Ordinary Shares of the 
Company are not redeemable and have no preemptive rights. The ownership or voting of Ordinary Shares by non-residents of Israel is not restricted in any 
way by the Company’s memorandum or articles of association or the laws of the State of Israel, except that citizens of countries which are, or have been, in 
a state of war with Israel may not be recognized as owners of Ordinary Shares. 

     B. Employees’ and non employees’ stock options 

     In 2003, the Company adopted a stock option plan for directors, employees and consultants.The 2003 Plan replaced and superseded previous option plans 
adopted by the Company in 1998 and 2000. Under these plans, the Board of Directors (or a compensation committee appointed by the board) (the “Board”) 
has the authority to grant options to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, directors or consultants. Each option entitles the holder to purchase one 
Ordinary Share of par value of NIS 0.05 and expires after 10 years from the date of grant. The Company has reserved for issuance a total of 2,500,000 
Ordinary Shares under the plan. As of December 31, 2006, 21,516 options out of this plan had not been granted. 

     The purchase price of each share pursuant to the options granted under the 2003 Plan shall be the fair market value on the date the Board approves the 
grant of the option or as otherwise determined by the Board. 

     Unless otherwise determined by the Board, where a grant of options under the 2003 Plan is the first grant of options made to a person, 50% of the 
options vest and become exercisable on the second anniversary of the date of grant. An additional 25% of the options vest and become exercisable on each 
of the third and fourth anniversaries of the date of the grant. If, however, a grant under the 2003 Plan is made to a person who previously received stock 
options under the 2003 Plan or a previous plan of the Company, 25% of the options granted are immediately vested and exercisable and an additional 25% 
of the options vest and become exercisable on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of the grant. 

     In 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (“the Plan”) permitting the grant of equity awards, including options and restricted stock 
of the Company, to eligible employees, directors and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Plan is administered by the Company’s Board of 
Directors and Compensation and Nominating Committee. The Plan contains provisions concerning the vesting, price, exercise and other terms of awards; 
however, the Compensation and Nominating Committee has authority to grant awards under different terms at its discretion. The Company has reserved for 
issuance a total of 2,500,000 Ordinary Shares under the Plan. As of December 31, 2006, there were 539,500 shares outstanding under this plan, and 100,000 
shares of restricted stock had been issued. 

     Equity awards under this plan must be granted at no less than the fair market value of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of the grant and the 
term of the awards may not exceed ten years. The Company’s current policy is that options granted under the Plan expire five years following the date of the 
grant. 

     Generally, where a grant of an award under the plan is the first grant of equity to an employee or consultant, 50% of the award is exercisable on the 
second anniversary of the date of grant, and 25% becomes exercisable on each of the third and fourth anniversaries of the date of the grant. In cases of 
subsequent grants, awards vest in four equal installments beginning 

47

Given Imaging–6-K 
Command Financial Press (49097)

Saved: 06/21/2007-14:07:34 • Printed: 6/22/2007-04:48:36 
W:\OTHER (A to M)\49097_Given Imaging\Edgar\6-K\c49097_ex99-1.htm

Sequence: 54 
Rev: 1



  

Given Imaging Ltd. and its Subsidiaries 

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued) 
(In thousands except share and per share data) 

with the first anniversary of the grant. To the extent the awards have vested, they may be exercised in whole or in part from time to time until their 
expiration. 

     In case of participating employees and consultants, all unvested awards are cancelled upon the termination of their employment or service. All vested 
awards may be exercised within 180 days following termination. All vested awards not exercised within this period are automatically forfeited and 
cancelled. Unvested awards to non-employee directors whose service is terminated or discontinued for any reason other than for cause after more than five 
years of service on the Company’s board of directors, will automatically vest and become exercisable immediately prior to termination or discontinuation of 
service. These vested awards may be exercised within 180 days following termination or discontinuation of service, except in cases where termination or 
discontinuation of service is a result of statutory requirements, death, disability or other circumstances of forced cessation of service, in which case awards 
may be exercised at any time until their expiration date. In a case of termination for cause of a plan participant, all awards, whether vested or unvested, are 
automatically forfeited and cancelled. 

     Under this plan, in the event of an acquisition or merger in which the Company is not the surviving entity and the acquiring entity does not agree to 
assume the awards, all outstanding, but unvested, awards will be accelerated and exercisable, ten days prior to the acquisition or merger. In addition, if the 
employment of a holder of outstanding awards is terminated in anticipation of or during the 12 month period following an acquisition or merger, all awards 
that are scheduled to vest within two years of such acquisition or merger, will be automatically accelerated and exercisable, subject to certain adjustments 
and exceptions. 

     Awards granted under the 2006 equity plan to Israeli residents may be granted under Section 102 of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance pursuant to which 
the awards or the Ordinary Shares issued upon their exercise must be deposited with a trustee for at least two years following the date of the grant. Under 
Section 102, any tax payable by an employee from the grant or exercise of the awards is deferred until the transfer of the awards or ordinary shares by the 
trustee to the employee or upon the sale of the awards or ordinary shares. Gains on awards granted under the plan are subject to capital gains tax of 25% and 
the Company is not entitled to a tax deduction. Options granted under the plan to U.S. residents may also qualify as incentive stock options (ISO) within the 
meaning of Section 422 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986. Options that do not contain terms that will qualify them as ISOs are treated as Non-
Qualified Stock Options. 

     Prior to the adoption of Statement 123R, effective January 1, 2006, the fair value of each option granted is estimated on the date of grant, using the 
Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: 

1.  Dividend yield of zero percent. 

2.  Risk-free average interest rate as follows: 

 

     The fair value of each option granted in 2006 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black—Scholes model, with the following assumptions: 

1.  Dividend yield of zero percent. 
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Year ended December 31,    %  

2004    1.0-2.5  
2005    3.0-4.3  

3.   Estimated expected lives of five years as of the date of grant.

 
4. Expected average volatility of 74% and 62%, for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively, which represents a weighted average 

standard deviation rate for the price of the Company’s Ordinary Shares on the NASDAQ National Market.
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     The expected life of the options granted to employees and directors, is calculated based on the Simplified Method as allowed under Staff Accounting 
Bulletin No. 107 (SAB 107), giving consideration to the contractual term of the options and their vesting schedules. 

     The following table summarizes information relating to stock options for Ordinary Shares outstanding and exercisable, as of December 31, 2006: 

 

     The stock option activity under the Plans is as follows: 
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2.   Risk free average interest rate of 4.89% which represents the risk free rate of US$zero— coupon Government Bonds. 
 
3. Weighted average expected life of 3.69 years, which represents the period for which the options granted are expected to be outstanding.

4.   Expected average volatility of 53.17% which represents a weighted average standard deviation rate for the price of the Company’s Ordinary Shares in 
the NASDAQ National Market. 

   Options outstanding  

   Number outstanding at    Weighted average remaining  
Exercise price   December 31, 2006    contractual life (in years)  

$1–$10    855,368    4.86  
$10.01–$20    1,862,025    5.65  
$20.01–$30    889,920    6.45  

$30.01–$40    507,291    7.90  

  4,114,604      
  

   Options exercisable  

   Number exercisable at    Weighted average remaining  
Exercise price   December 31, 2006    contractual life (in years)  

$1–$10    844,368    4.84  
$10.01–$20    1,294,525    6.07  
$20.01–$30    236,250    7.71  

$30.01–$40    410,674    7.88  

   2,785,817      

      Weighted average    Weighted average  

   Number of shares  exercise price    grant date fair value  

Balance at January 1, 2004   3,881,396       
Granted   1,011,340   $34.09    $23.31  
Forfeited   (119,000)   14.84    10.36  

Exercised   (472,198)   5.44    4.11  
Balance at December 31, 2004   4,301,538       
Granted   266,000   25.06    13.93  
Forfeited   (205,483)   26.96    16.78  

Exercised   (328,895)   3.29    2.78  
Balance at December 31, 2005   4,033,160       
Granted   1,077,070   18.75    10.21  
Forfeited   (404,616)   25.87    15.29  

Exercised   (591,010)   3.45    2.95  

Balance at December 31, 2006   4,114,604       
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     The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding as at December 31, 2006, is $19,673. The aggregate intrinsic value of options excisable as at 
December 31, 2006, is $18,778. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2006, is $10,610. 

     On May 30, 2006, the Company issued 100,000 restricted shares to its CEO. The restricted shares will vest in four installments over a period of four 
years, beginning on May 30, 2007. The fair value of the restricted shares as of the date of issue is being amortized over the vesting period. 

     Unrecognized compensation costs related to the restricted shares, as of December 31, 2006, to be recognized over 3.4 years, were $1,516 and 
compensation expenses of $263 were recognized in 2006. 

     The following summarizes the allocation of the stock-based compensation charge for both employees and non-employee stock option grants: 

 

     As of December 31, 2006, there was approximately $10,200 of unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested options to be recognized over a 
weighted average period of 2.67 years. The total grant date fair value of options vested during the year ended December 31, 2006, was $8,368 

Note 12—Revenues 
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   Year ended December 31,  

   2004   2005  2006  

Research and development costs   $ 63    $—   $    569  
Selling and marketing expenses.   1    —   1,839  

General and administrative expenses   14    3   2,805  

   $ 78    $  3   $ 5,213  

A.  Revenues by activities             
  

      Year ended December 31,  

      2004    2005     2006  

  Workstations and recorders   $ 18,669   $ 16,145    $ 12,513  
  PillCam SB capsule    41,622    62,528     76,360  
  PillCam ESO capsule    1,829    4,384     1,438  
  Patency capsules and scanners    188    174     353  

  Service    2,712    3,545     4,365  

     $ 65,020   $ 86,776    $ 95,029  

  
  
  
B.  Revenues by geographic areas             
  

      Year ended December 31,  

      2004  2005   2006  

  United States   $ 46,694   $ 63,896    $ 66,415  
  Europe    13,447    16,765     21,053  

  Rest of the world    4,879    6,115     7,561  

     $ 65,020   $ 86,776    $ 95,029  
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Note 13—Financial Income, net 

 
Note 14—Taxes on Income 

A. Company 

     Pursuant to the Israeli tax law, the Company was awarded “Approved Enterprise” status under the government alternative benefits track. The program is 
for investments in the development of infrastructure and for investments in locally produced and imported equipment. The main benefits to which the 
Company will be entitled, if it implements all the terms of an approved program, are the exemption from tax on income deriving from an approved 
enterprise, and reduced tax rates on dividends originating from this income. 

     The income derived from an approved enterprise will be exempt from tax for a ten year period, commencing on the date that taxable income is first 
generated by the approved enterprise (limited to the earlier of a maximum period of 12 years from the year of commencement of operations or 14 years from 
the year the approval letter was received). As of December 31, 2006, the benefit term had not commenced. 

     Dividend distributions originating from income of the Approved Enterprise will be subject to tax at the rate of 15%, provided that the dividend is 
distributed during the period stipulated under Israeli law. 

     In the event of a dividend distribution (including withdrawals and charges that are deemed to be dividends) out of the income originating from the 
approved enterprise, and on which the Company received a tax exemption, the distribution is subject to corporate taxes at rates varying from 10% - 25% 
depending on the percentage of foreign investment holding in the Company as defined by the Law. 

     If the Company derives income from sources other than the approved enterprise during the relevant period of benefits, such income will be taxable at 
regular corporate tax rates (see (4) below). 

     On March 30, 2005, the Knesset approved a reform of the Encouragement of Capital Investments Law–1959. The primary changes are as follows: 
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    2004 2005  2006

Currency gains (losses)   $ 444   $ (837)    $ 778  
Interest income    685     1,963     1,639  
Income from marketable securities    —     422     1,849  

Other    (173)     (786)     (286)  

   $ 956   $ 762    $ 3,980  

(1)  Israeli income tax is computed on the basis of the Company’s results in New Israeli Shekels (“NIS”) determined for statutory purposes. The Company is 
assessed for tax purposes under the Income Tax Law (Inflationary Adjustments 1985), the purpose of which is to prevent taxation on inflationary profits. 

a.   Companies that meet the criteria of the Alternate Path of tax benefits will receive those benefits without prior approval. In addition there will be no 
requirement to file reports with the Investment Center. Audit will take place via the Income Tax Authorities as part of the tax audits. Request for pre-
ruling is possible. 

 
b. Tax benefits of the Alternate Path include lower tax rates or zero tax depending on the investment zone and the path chosen, lower tax rates on dividends 

and accelerated depreciation. 
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     The amendments to the Law do not retroactively apply for investment programs having an Approved Enterprise approval certificate from the Investment 
Center issued up to December 31, 2004 (even when investments under these programs are conducted after January 1, 2005). Consequently, the amendments 
should not impact an existing Approved Enterprise, which received written approval. The new tax regime shall apply for a new Approved Enterprise and for 
an Approved Enterprise expansion for which the first year of benefits may be as early as 2004. 

     The Amendment provides for a gradual reduction in corporate tax rate in the following manner: in 2006 - 31%, 2007 - 29%, 2008 - 27%, 2009 - 26% and 
from 2010 onward 25%. Furthermore, as from 2010, upon reduction of the corporate tax rate to 25%, capital gains will be subject to tax of 25%. 

     This change has no effect on the financial statements of the Company. 

B. Subsidiaries 

     At December 31, 2006 the subsidiaries had local, federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $26.6 million. Federal and state 
losses carryforwards in the US subsidiary, totaling $9.1 million will be expired through 2026. Operating loss carryforwards in the Japanese subsidiary, 
totaling $6.4 million will be expired through 2013. The remaining balance could be utilized with no limitation of time. 
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c.   In order to receive benefits in the Grant Path or the Alternate Path, the Industrial Enterprise must contribute to the economic independence of the 
Country’s economy in one of the following ways: 

 

 
1.   Its primary activity is in the Biotechnology or Nanotechnology fields and pre-approval is received from the head of research and development at the 

Office of the Chief Scientist; 
 
 2. Its revenue from a specific country is not greater than 75% of its total revenues that year;

 
 3. 25% or more of its revenues are derived from a specific market of at least 12 million residents.

(2)   The Company has net operating loss carryforwards in Israel of approximately $13.9 million as of December 31, 2006. These net operating loss 
carryforwards are linked to the Israeli Consumer Price Index and are available to offset future taxable income, if any, indefinitely.

 
(3) As explained above, the Israeli Company is exempt from tax for a ten-year period. Therefore, the Israeli Company has not recorded deferred tax assets 

and liabilities. 
 
(4) On July 25, 2005 the Knesset passed the Law for the Amendment of the Income Tax Ordinance (No. 147 and Temporary Order) - 2005 (“the 

Amendment”). 
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C. Profit (loss) before tax and tax expense (benefit) included in the statement of operations 

     In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax 
assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in 
which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this 
assessment. 

     Based upon projections for future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes it is more likely 
than not that the Company will realize the benefits of these deductible differences, net of the existing valuation allowances at December 31, 2006. The 
amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the 
carryforward period are reduced. 

     The tax effects of significant items comprising the Company’s deferred taxes: 

 

     The net changes in the total valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 are $3,840, ($2,779) and $789, respectively. 
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        Year ended December 31  

       2004      2005   2006   
    Profit (loss) before taxes on income and minority                  
       share:                 
    Israel   $  4,494    $ 5,011   $ 3,459  

    Foreign jurisdiction   (3,043)      (70)   (6,174)  

       $  1,451    $ 4,941   $ (2,715)  

    Taxes on income:                
    Current taxes:                
    Israel   $  —      $ —   $ 200  

    Foreign jurisdiction   47      196   82  

       $  47    $ 196   $ 282  
    Deferred taxes:                
    Israel   $  —      $ —   $ —  

    Foreign jurisdiction   (737)      (482)   (155)  

       $  (737)    $ (482)   $ (155)  

    Tax expense (benefit)   $  (690)    $ (286)   $ 127  
  
D.    Deferred Taxes                  

    December 31  

   2005  2006  
Net operating tax assets regarding carryforward losses of          
   subsidiaries   $  9,960   $ 10,137  

Other timing difference    1,576   2,343  
Deferred tax asset   11,536   12,480  

Valuation allowance    (10,317)  (11,106)  

Net deferred tax asset   $  1,219   $ 1,374  
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E. Reconciliation of the statutory tax expense (benefit) to actual taxes on income 

 
Note 15—Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

     The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, deposits, assets held for severance benefits, marketable 
securities and accounts payable. Except for marketable securities considering the short term nature of these financial instruments, their carrying amounts 
approximate fair value. The fair value of the Company’s marketable securities is disclosed in Note 5. 
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    Year ended December 31,  

    2004 2005  2006  
Profit (loss) before taxes on income and minority                  
   share   $ 1,451    $ 4,941   $ (2,715)  

Tax rate    0%      0%    0%  
Statutory income tax on the above amount    —      —    —  
Increase (decrease) in taxed on income resulting from:                  
Differences between the definition of capital and                  
   assets for tax purposes.    —      —    200  
Changes in valuation allowance    3,840      (2,779)    789  

Foreign tax rate differential in subsidiaries    (4,530)      2,493    (862)  

Tax expense (benefit)   $ (690)    $ (286)   $ 127  
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GIVEN IMAGING LTD. 

2 Hacarmel Street, New Industrial Park 
Yoqneam, Israel 20692 

June 21, 2007

Dear Shareholder: 

You are cordially invited to attend the 2007 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Given Imaging Ltd. on July 
18, 2007, beginning at 4:00 p.m., local time, at the Company’s head offices, at Hermon Building, 2 Hacarmel Street, 
New Industrial Park, Yoqneam 20692, Israel. We look forward to greeting as many of you as can attend the Annual 
General Meeting. 

Holders of the Company’s ordinary shares are being asked to vote on the matters listed in the enclosed Notice of 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. The Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” all of the matters set forth in 
the notice. 

Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, it is important that your ordinary 
shares be represented and voted at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Accordingly, after reading the enclosed 
Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and accompanying Proxy Statement, please sign, date and mail the 
enclosed proxy card in the envelope provided in accordance with the instructions on your proxy card. 
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   Very truly yours, 

    

   DORON BIRGER 

   Chairman of the Board of Directors 



  

 

GIVEN IMAGING LTD. 
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

To the Shareholders of Given Imaging Ltd.: 

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Given Imaging Ltd. (the “Company”) will be held at the Company’s head offices, at 
Hermon Building, 2 Hacarmel Street, New Industrial Park, Yoqneam 20692, Israel, on July 18, 2007, at 4:00 p.m., local time, for the following 
purposes: 

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on June 18, 2007, are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the meeting. 

We look forward to greeting those shareholders present at the meeting personally. HOWEVER, WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO 
ATTEND THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS AND REGARDLESS OF THE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES 
YOU OWN, IT IS IMPORTANT THAT YOUR SHARES BE REPRESENTED. ACCORDINGLY YOU ARE KINDLY REQUESTED TO 
COMPLETE, DATE, SIGN AND RETURN THE ENCLOSED PROXY, WHICH IS SOLICITED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
COMPANY, AND TO MAIL IT PROMPTLY IN THE ACCOMPANYING ENVELOPE. 

If you are present at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and desire to vote in person, you may revoke your appointment of proxy at 
the meeting so that you may vote your shares personally. 

Shareholders registered in the Company’s shareholders registry and shareholders who hold shares through members of the Tel Aviv Stock 
Exchange, may also vote through this enclosed form  
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1.
   

To elect the directors of the Company to serve until the next Annual Meeting (“Proposal 1”);  

  

2.

 

 

 

To elect the External Directors, as defined in the Israeli Companies Law, 1999 (the “Companies Law”), of the Company to serve for 
one additional term of three years, until December 2010 (“Proposal 2”);  

  

3.

 

 

 

To approve changes to directors’ compensation (“Proposal 3”); 

  

4.

 

 

 

To approve engagement terms of the Chairman of the Board of Directors (“Proposal 4”); 

  

5.

 

 

 

To approve the 2007 compensation and amendments to the employment contract of the President and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company (“Proposal 5”);  

  

6.

 

 

 

To approve an increase of the number of ordinary shares reserved for issuance under the Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan 
(“Proposal 6”); 

  

7.

 

 

 

To approve a registration rights agreement between the Company and certain holders of ordinary shares of the Company (“Proposal 
7”);  

  

8.

 

 

 

To approve an increased maximum coverage under the Company’s directors’ and officers’ insurance (“Proposal 8”);  

  

9.

 

 

 

To reappoint the firm of Somekh Chaikin, a member of KPMG International (“KPMG”), as the Company’s independent auditors until 
the Company’s next Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, and to authorize the Company’s Audit Committee and Board of 
Directors to determine their remuneration (“Proposal 9”);  

  

10.

 

 

 

To receive and consider a report from management and the Financial Statements of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2006; and  

  

11.

 

 

 

To act upon such other matters as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or adjournments thereof. 



  

of proxy by completing, signing, dating and mailing the proxy with a copy of their identity card, passport or certification of incorporation, as the 
case may be, to the Company’s offices. Shareholders who hold shares through members of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange and intend to vote their 
shares either in person or by proxy must deliver the Company an ownership certificate confirming their ownership of the Company’s shares on 
the record date, which certificate must be approved by a recognized financial institution, as required by the Israeli Companies Regulations (Proof 
of Ownership of Shares for Voting at General Meeting) of 2000, as amended. 

Shareholders are allowed to apply in writing, through the Company, to the other shareholders of the Company in order to solicit their vote on 
items on the agenda of the Meeting (“Position Notice”). Position Notices must be in English and may be sent to the Company’s offices at the 
address above. The last date for delivering such Position Notices to the Company is July 2, 2007. 
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   By Order of the Board of Directors, 

    

   DORON BIRGER

   Chairman of the Board of Directors 



  

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

General Information 

This Proxy Statement and the accompanying form of proxy are being furnished to holders of ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.05 each, of 
Given Imaging Ltd., an Israeli corporation (the “Company”), in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors of the 
Company for use at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company to be held on July 18, 2007, at 4:00 p.m., local time, at the 
Company’s head offices at Hermon Building, 2 Hacarmel Street, New Industrial Park, Yoqneam 20692, Israel, and at any adjournment or 
adjournments thereof (the “Annual Meeting”). This Proxy Statement and the accompanying form of proxy are first being mailed to shareholders 
on or about June 21, 2007. 

The Proxy 

Doron Birger, Nachum Shamir, Yuval Yanai and Ido Warshavski, or any of them, have been nominated as proxies by the Board of Directors 
of the Company with respect to the matters to be voted upon at the Annual Meeting. 

All ordinary shares represented by properly executed proxies received prior to or at the Annual Meeting and not revoked prior to or at the 
Annual Meeting in accordance with the procedure described below will be voted as specified in the instructions indicated in such proxies. If no 
instructions are indicated, such proxies will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the Board of Directors contained in this Proxy 
Statement and in the discretion of the persons named in the proxy in respect of such other matters as may properly come before the Annual 
Meeting. 

Revocation of Proxies 

A shareholder may revoke his, her or its proxy by delivering to the Company, subsequent to receipt by the Company of his, her, or its proxy, 
a written notice canceling the proxy or appointing a different proxy; or upon receipt by the Chairman of the Annual Meeting of written notice 
from such shareholder of the revocation of his, her or its proxy prior to the Annual Meeting; or by attending and voting in person at the Annual 
Meeting. Attendance without voting at the General Meeting will not in and of itself constitute revocation of a proxy. 

Shareholders Entitled to Vote 

Shareholders of record who held ordinary shares at the close of business on June 18, 2007 (the “Record Date”), are entitled to notice of, and 
to vote at, the Annual Meeting. In addition, shareholders who, as of the Record Date, held ordinary shares through a bank, broker or other 
nominee which is a shareholder of record of the Company or which appears in the participant list of a securities depository, are considered to be 
beneficial owners of shares held in street name. These proxy materials are being forwarded to beneficial owners by your bank, broker or other 
nominee that is considered the holder of record. Beneficial owners have the right to direct how their shares should be voted and are also invited to 
attend the meeting, but may not actually vote their shares in person at the meeting except for shareholders who hold shares through members of 
the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange in Israel, who may participate and vote at the meeting if they confirm their ownership as required by the Companies 
Law. The bank, broker or other nominee that is a shareholder of record has enclosed a voting instruction card for you to use in directing the 
holder of record how to vote the shares. 

Shareholders registered in the Company’s shareholders registry and shareholders who hold shares through members of the Tel Aviv Stock 
Exchange, may also vote through this enclosed form of proxy by completing, signing, dating and mailing the proxy with a copy of their identity 
card, passport or certification of incorporation, as the case may be, to the Company’s offices. Shareholders who hold shares through members of 
the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange and intend to vote their shares either in person or by proxy must deliver the Company an ownership certificate 
confirming their ownership of the Company’s shares on the record date, which certificate must be approved by a recognized financial institution, 
as required by the Israeli Companies Regulations (Proof of Ownership of Shares for Voting at General Meeting) of 2000, as amended. 

Given Imaging–6-K 
Command Financial Press (49097)

Saved: 06/21/2007-14:07:34 • Printed: 6/22/2007-04:48:36 
W:\OTHER (A to M)\49097_Given Imaging\Edgar\6-K\c49097_ex99-2.htm

Sequence: 67 
Rev: 1



  

As of May 31, 2007, there were 28,959,317 ordinary shares issued, outstanding and entitled to one vote upon each of the matters to be 
presented at the Annual Meeting. 

Quorum and Voting 

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the quorum required for the Annual Meeting consists of at least two shareholders present, 
in person or by proxy, who hold or represent between them at least one-third of the Company’s issued share capital. Under Israeli law and the 
Company’s Articles of Association, if a quorum is present in person or by proxy, broker non-votes and abstentions will have no effect on whether 
the requisite vote is obtained for all matters placed before shareholders for their vote, as broker non-votes and abstentions do not constitute voting 
shares represented at the meeting in person or by proxy, other than with respect to determining whether a quorum is present. 

In respect of Proposal 1, Proposal 3, Proposal 4, Proposal 5, Proposal 6, Proposal 8 and Proposal 9, the affirmative vote of the holders of a 
majority of the voting power represented at the meeting, in person or by proxy, and voting thereon is necessary for the approval of each proposal. 
For these proposals, only ordinary shares that are voted on such matter will be counted towards determining whether such matter is approved by 
shareholders. Ordinary shares present at the Annual Meeting that are not voted on a particular matter or ordinary shares present by proxy where 
the shareholder properly withheld authority to vote on such matter (including broker non-votes) will not be counted in determining whether such 
matter is approved by shareholders. 

Approval of each of Proposal 2 and Proposal 7 requires special voting, as explained in the detailed description of these proposals in this 
Proxy Statement. 

A broker non-vote occurs when a bank, broker or other nominee holding ordinary shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a particular 
proposal because the nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to that proposal and has not received instructions from the 
beneficial owner. On all matters considered at the Annual Meeting, abstentions and broker non- votes will be treated as neither a vote “for” nor 
“against” the matter, although they will be counted as present in determining if a quorum is present. 

Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote on each proposal or item that comes before the Annual Meeting. If two or more persons are 
registered as joint owners of any ordinary share, the right to attend the Annual Meeting shall be conferred upon all of the joint owners, but the 
right to vote at the meeting and/or the right to be counted as part of the quorum thereat shall be conferred exclusively upon the senior amongst the 
joint owners attending the meeting, in person or by proxy, and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names 
stand on the Company’s Shareholder Register. 

Proxy Solicitation 

The Company will bear the costs of solicitation of proxies for the Annual Meeting. In addition to solicitation by mail, directors, officers and 
employees of the Company may solicit proxies from shareholders by telephone, telegram, personal interview or otherwise. Such directors, 
officers and employees will not receive additional compensation, but may be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses in connection with such 
solicitation. Brokers, nominees, fiduciaries and other custodians have been requested to forward soliciting material to the beneficial owners of 
ordinary shares held of record by them, and such custodians will be reimbursed for their reasonable expenses. The Company may also retain an 
independent contractor to assist in the solicitation of proxies. If retained for such services, the costs will be paid by the Company. The Company 
may reimburse the reasonable charges and expenses of brokerage houses or other nominees or fiduciaries for forwarding proxy materials to, and 
obtaining authority to execute proxies from, beneficial owners for whose accounts they hold ordinary shares. 

As a foreign private issuer, the Company is exempt from the rules under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”), related to the furnishing and content of proxy statements. The circulation of this notice and proxy statement should not be taken as an 
admission that the Company is subject to the proxy rules under the Exchange Act. 
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of the ordinary shares as of May 31, 2007 for: (1) each 
person who the Company believes beneficially owns 5% or more of the outstanding ordinary shares, and (2) all of the Company’s directors and 
executive officers as a group. Beneficial ownership of shares is determined under rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) 
and generally includes any shares over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power. The table also includes the number of 
shares underlying options that are exercisable within 60 days of May 31, 2007. Ordinary shares subject to these options are deemed to be 
outstanding for the purpose of computing the ownership percentage of the person holding these options, but are not deemed to be outstanding for 
the purpose of computing the ownership percentage of any other person. 
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Name and Address  

Number of 
Shares 

Beneficially 
Owned  

Percentage of
Shares 

Beneficially 
Owned 

IDB Holding Corporation Ltd.(1)  
   12,724,808   

 

 43.9 %
 

AXA Assurances I.A.R.D. Mutuelle, AXA Assurances Vie Mutuelle, AXA Courtage Assurance Mutuelle, 
AXA, AXA Financial, Inc.(2)  

   3,760,771   
 

 13.0 %
 

OrbiMed Advisors LLC, OrbiMed Capital LLC and Samuel D. Isaly(3)  
   1,841,004   

 

 6.3 %
 

All directors and executive officers as a group(4)  
   14,117,586   

 

 48.7 %
 

3 

  

(1)
   

Based on a Schedule 13D/A filed on June 4, 2007 and on information provided to us supplementally, this number consists of 5,340,070 
ordinary shares owned by Elron Electronic Industries Ltd., or Elron, 4,719,528 ordinary shares owned by Discount Investment Corporation 
Ltd., or DIC, 2,662,110 ordinary shares owned by RDC Rafael Development Corporation Ltd., or RDC, and 3,100 ordinary shares held by 
subsidiaries of Clal Insurance Enterprises Holdings Ltd., or CIEH, for their own account. This number does not include 277,114 Ordinary 
Shares held for members of the public through mutual funds, provident funds, pension funds, exchange traded funds and insurance policies 
which are managed by companies controlled by CIEH, which disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares. Based on information 
contained in that Schedule 13D/A and on information provided to us supplementally, Elron owns all of the outstanding shares of DEP 
Technology Holdings Ltd. which, in turn, holds 50.1% of the voting power of RDC. As a result, Elron may be deemed to be the beneficial 
owner of the ordinary shares owned by RDC. As of June 4, 2007, DIC owned approximately 48.7% of the outstanding shares of Elron and, 
as a result, DIC may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the ordinary shares owned by RDC and by Elron. IDB Holding Corporation, or 
IDBH, owns the majority of the outstanding shares of IDB Development Corporation Ltd., or IDBD, which, in turn, owns the majority of 
the outstanding shares of DIC and CIEH. As a result, IDBH may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the ordinary shares owned by 
DIC, RDC and Elron, and the ordinary shares held by subsidiaries of CIEH for their own account. The address of each of DIC, IDBH and 
IDBD is The Triangular Tower, 44th Floor, 3 Azrieli Center, Tel Aviv 67023, Israel. The address of RDC is Building 7, New Industrial 
Park, Yoqneam 20692, Israel. The address of Elron is The Triangular Tower, 42nd Floor, 3 Azrieli Center, Tel Aviv 67023, Israel. IDBH, 
IDBD and DIC are public companies traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. Elron is a public company traded on the Tel Aviv Stock 
Exchange and on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.   

As of June 4, 2007, (i) Ganden Holdings Ltd., or Ganden, a private Israeli company controlled by Nochi Dankner and his sister Shelly 
Bergman, held, directly and through a wholly-owned subsidiary, approximately 44.88% of the outstanding shares of IDBH; (ii) Shelly 
Bergman, through a wholly-owned company, held approximately 7.23% of the outstanding shares of IDBH; (iii) Avraham Livnat Ltd., or 
Livnat, a private Israeli company controlled by Avraham Livnat, held, directly and through a wholly-owned subsidiary, approximately 
10.38% of the outstanding shares of IDBH; and (iv) Manor Holdings BA Ltd., or Manor, a private company controlled by Ruth Manor, held, 
directly and through a majority-owned subsidiary, approximately 10.37% of the outstanding shares of IDBH. 

Subsidiaries of Ganden, Livnat and Manor have entered into a shareholders agreement with respect to their shares of IDBH constituting, 
respectively, 31.02%, 10.34% and 10.34% of the outstanding shares of IDBH, for the purpose of maintaining and exercising control of 
IDBH as a  
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group. Their additional holdings in IDBH are not subject to the shareholders agreement. The term of the shareholders agreement expires in 
May 2023. Based on the foregoing, Ganden, Manor and Livnat (by reason of their control of IDBH) and Nochi Dankner, Shelly Bergman, 
Ruth Manor, and Avraham Livnat (by reason of their control of Ganden, Manor and Livnat, respectively) may be deemed to share with DIC, 
Elron and RDC the power to vote and dispose of our ordinary shares held by these entities, and also to share with subsidiaries of CIEH the 
power to vote and dispose of our ordinary shares held by these subsidiaries for their own account.  

Nochi Dankner is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of IDBH, the Chairman of IDBD and DIC and a director of Elron. Isaac Manor 
(the husband of Ruth Manor) and Zvi Livnat (a son of Avraham Livnat) are directors of IDBH, IDBD and DIC. Shai Livnat (another son of 
Avraham Livnat) is a director of IDBD. Dori Manor (the son of Isaac and Ruth Manor) is a director of IDBH, IDBD, DIC and Elron. The 
address of Nochi Dankner is The Triangular Tower, 44th Floor, 3 Azrieli Center, Tel Aviv 67023, Israel. The address of Shelly Bergman is 
9 Mishmar Ezrehi Street, Afeka, Tel Aviv 69697, Israel. The address of Ruth Manor is 26 Hagderot Street, Savyon 56526, Israel. The 
address of Avraham Livnat is Taavura Junction, Ramle 72102, Israel. These individuals disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares owned 
by the foregoing entities except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein. On September 29, 2003, Elron and DIC entered into a voting 
agreement pursuant to which, among other things, DIC agreed to vote all of its ordinary shares in favor of nominees to our board of directors 
proposed by Elron. The voting agreement is for a term of one year and renews automatically each year thereafter unless terminated by notice 
of either party to the other party no later than August 30 in each year, or unless earlier terminated by agreement of both parties thereto.  

  

(2)

 

 

 

Based on a Schedule 13G/A filed on February 13, 2007, consists of 3,584,045 ordinary shares owned by Alliance Bernstein L.P., or 
Alliance, and 176,726 ordinary shares owned by AXA Equitable Life Insurance Company, or AXA Equitable. Based on information 
contained in the Schedule 13G/A, Alliance and AXA Equitable are subsidiaries of AXA Financial, Inc. AXA Financial, Inc. is a parent 
holding company with respect to the holdings of Alliance, AXA Equitable and Frontier Trust Company, FSB (Advest Trust). Each of 
Alliance and AXA Equitable operates under independent management and makes independent decisions. AXA Financial, Inc. is controlled 
by AXA Assurances I.A.R.D Mutuelle, AXA Assurances Vie Mutuelle and AXA Courtage Assurance Mutuelle (collectively, the 
“Mutuelles AXA”), as a group. The address of AXA Assurances I.A.R.D Mutuelle and AXA Assurances Vie Mutuelle is 26, rue Drouot, 
75009 Paris, France. The address of AXA Courtage Assurance Mutuelle is 26, rue Drouot, 75009 Paris, France. The address of AXA is 25, 
avenue Matignon, 75008 Paris, France. The address of AXA Financial, Inc. is 1290 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10104. Each of 
the Mutuelles AXA, as a group, expressly disclaims beneficial ownership of any securities owned by the foregoing entities. 

  

(3)

 

 

 

Based on a Schedule 13G/A filed on February 14, 2007, consists of 1,551,404 ordinary shares owned by OrbiMed Capital LLC and 289,600 
ordinary shares held by OrbiMed Advisors LLC. Based on the information contained in the Schedule 13G/A, OrbiMed Capital and OrbiMed 
Advisors hold 1,299,233 of these ordinary shares on behalf of Caduceus Private Investments L.P., or Caduceus; 202,600 ordinary shares on 
behalf of Eaton Vance Worldwide Health Sciences Portfolio, or Eaton Vance; 202,500 ordinary shares on behalf of Finsbury Worldwide 
Pharmaceutical Trust, or Finsbury; 87,500 ordinary shares on behalf of UBS Juniper Crossover Fund LLC, or Juniper; and 47,369 ordinary 
shares on behalf of OrbiMed Associates LLC, or OrbiMed Associates. In addition, Caduceus owns 2,157 warrants to purchase ordinary 
shares and OrbiMed Associates owns 145 warrants to purchase ordinary shares. Samual D. Isaly owns a controlling interest in OrbiMed 
Advisors and OrbiMed Capital. The address of OrbiMed Advisors, OrbiMed Capital and Samuel D. Isaly is 767 Third Avenue, 30th Floor, 
New York, NY 10017.  

  

(4)

 

 

 

Includes 12,724,808 ordinary shares beneficially owned by IDB Holding Corporation as well as ordinary shares and options to purchase 
ordinary shares held by directors and officers in their personal capacities or by their nominees. The Company’s directors and officers 
disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares owned by the foregoing entities except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein.  



  

PROPOSAL 1—ELECTION OF DIRECTORS (EXCEPT EXTERNAL DIRECTORS) 

The Company’s Board of Directors currently consists of seven members. Except for the External Directors, as defined below, each Director 
serves until the next Annual Meeting following the Annual Meeting or Special General Meeting at which such Director was elected, or until 
his/her earlier removal pursuant to a resolution of the holders of a majority of the voting power represented at a Special General Meeting in 
person or by proxy. 

The Board of Directors has nominated for election or reelection the following persons to serve as directors of the Company until the next 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders: Israel Makov, who will serve as the Chairman of the Board; Doron Birger, Arie Mientkavich, Dennert 
O. Ware, Nachum Shamir and Prof. Anat Leowenstein. 

Each of the above named nominees has consented to being named in this Proxy Statement and will serve as a director if elected. If, however, 
at the time of the Annual Meeting any of the above named nominees should be unable or decline to serve, the persons named as proxies herein 
will vote for such substitute nominee or nominees as the Board of Directors may choose to recommend, or will vote to allow the vacancy created 
thereby to remain open until filled by the Board of Directors, as decided by the Board of Directors. 

Nominees For Election 
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Nominee  Business Experience 
Israel Makov  Israel Makov, age 68, served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Teva Pharmaceutical Industries 

Ltd. from April 2002 until March 2007 and is currently serving as Advisor to the Board of Directors of 
Teva. Previously he served as Teva’s Chief Operating Officer from January 2001, Executive Vice President 
from 1999 and Vice President for Business Development from 1995 until 1999. Prior to joining Teva, Mr 
Makov was Chief Executive Officer of Gottex from 1993-1995, Chief Executive Officer of Yachin Hakal 
Ltd. from 1991–1993 and Chairman of Axiom Ltd. from 1987–1991. Mr. Makov was also a director of 
Bank Hapoalim Ltd. from October 2002 until February 2006, a director of Ramot at Tel Aviv University 
from 2001 until January 2006, and one of the founders and a director of the INNI-Israel National 
Nanotechnology Initiative since 2003. Mr. Makov holds a B.Sc. in Agriculture and M.Sc. in Economics 
from the Hebrew University, Jerusalem. 

   
Dennert O. Ware  Dennert (Denny) O. Ware, age 65, served as a Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of Kinetic 

Concepts, Inc., or KCI, from April 2000 to December 2006. Before joining KCI, he served as President and 
CEO of Boehringer Mannheim Corporation, a market leader in medical diagnostic equipment. He joined 
Boehringer in 1972 as Vice President of Technical Affairs of DePuy, the company’s Orthopedic Division. 
He later held senior management positions in the Diagnostic Division and became President and CEO of 
Boehringer Mannheim’s North American operations in 1997 a position he held until the acquisition of 
Boehringer Mannheim Group by Hoffman La Roche in 1998. After this acquisition, Mr. Ware continued on 
as President and CEO of Roche Diagnostics Corp until the end of 1999. Mr. Ware holds a BSChE degree 
from Purdue University and an MBA from Indiana University. 

   



  

Nominees For Reelection at the Annual Meeting 
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Arie Mientkavitch  Arie Mientkavich, age 64, has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Elron Electronic Industries 

since January 2007 and in parallel as Chairman of the Boards of Rafael Development Corporation Ltd., or 
RDC, and Clal Tourism Ltd. Mr. Mientkavich has also been Chairman of the Board of Directors of Gazit 
Globe (Development) Ltd. and Deputy Chairman of IDB Holding Corporation Ltd. since 2006 and Deputy 
Chairman of Gazit Globe Ltd. since 2005. Prior to this, from 1997 through January 2006, Mr. Mientkavich 
served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Israel Discount Bank Ltd. and its major subsidiaries, Israel 
Discount Bank of New York, Mercantile Discount Bank Ltd. and Discount Management Provident Funds. 
Between 1987 and 1997, Mr. Mientkavich served as Active Chairman of the Board of the Israel Securities 
Authority—the Israeli equivalent of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Prior 
to that, from 1979 through 1987, he was the General Counsel of the Israeli Ministry of Finance. Mr. 
Mientkavich holds degrees in Political Science and Law from the Hebrew University, Jerusalem and is a 
member of the Israeli Bar Association. 

      
Nominee  Business Experience 
Doron Birger  Doron Birger, age 56, has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors since August 2002 and as a director 

since June 2000. Mr. Birger has served as Chief Executive Officer of Elron Electronic Industries since 
August 2002, President since 2001, Chief Financial Officer from 1994 to August 2002, and Corporate 
Secretary from 1994 to 2001. Mr. Birger is a director of RDC Rafael Development Corporation and a 
director or chairman of the board of directors of many privately held companies in the Elron group in the 
fields of medical devices, semiconductors, communication and advanced materials. From 1991 to 1994, Mr. 
Birger was Chief Financial Officer at North Hills Electronics Ltd., an advanced electronics company. From 
1990 to 1991, Mr. Birger served as Chief Financial Officer of Middle-East Pipes Ltd., a manufacturer in the 
metal industry. From 1988 to 1990, Mr. Birger served as Chief Financial Officer of Maquette Ltd., a 
manufacturer and exporter of fashion items. From 1981 to 1988, Mr. Birger was Chief Financial Officer and 
director at Bateman Engineering Ltd. and I.D.C. Industrial Development Company Ltd. Mr. Birger holds a 
B.A. and an M.A. in economics from the Hebrew University, Jerusalem. 

   
Nachum Shamir  Nachum Shamir, age 53, has served as the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and a director 

since April 9, 2006. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Shamir has served as Corporate Vice President of 
Eastman Kodak Company and as the President of Eastman Kodak’s Transaction and Industrial Solutions 
Group, which includes several business units, including Kodak Versamark, Inc. (whose operations were 
previously those of Scitex Digital Printing Inc.) of which Mr. Shamir was President and Chief Executive 
Officer. From June 2003 to January 2004, Mr. Shamir served as the President and Chief Executive Officer 
of Scitex Corporation. From January 2001 to January 2004, he served as the President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Scitex Digital Printing, having previously served as its Chief Operating Officer since July 2000. 
Prior thereto, Mr. Shamir was Managing Director and General Manager of Scitex Digital Printing (Asia 
Pacific) Pte Ltd., from the incorporation of this Singapore-based company in 1994. From 1993 until 1994 
he was with the Hong Kong based, Scitex Asia Pacific (H.K.) Ltd. Before joining Scitex, Mr. Shamir held 
senior management positions at various international companies mainly in the Asia Pacific regions. Mr. 
Shamir holds a B.Sc from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem and an M.P.A. from Harvard University. 



  

It is proposed that the following resolution be adopted at shareholders: 

“RESOLVED, that Doron Birger, Nachum Shamir and Prof. Anat Leowenstein are reelected to serve as directors of the Company and that 
Messrs. Israel Makov, who will serve as the Chairman of the Board of Directors, Dennert O. Ware and Arie Mientkavitch are elected to serve as a 
director of the Company, each of them until the next Annual General Meeting of Shareholders or until his/her earlier removal under Israel’s 
Companies Law, 1999 and the Company’s articles of association.” 

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power represented and voting at the meeting, in person or by proxy, is 
necessary to elect each of the above named nominees as directors. 

The Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” the proposal to elect each of the above-named nominees as directors. 
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Prof. Anat Leowenstein  Prof. Anat Loewenstein, age 48, has served as a director since August 2005. Prof. Loewenstein completed 

her training in Johns Hopkins University Hospital in Baltimore in 1996. She is the Director of the 
Department of Ophthalmology, Tel Aviv Medical Center since January 2000, Vice Dean of the Sackler 
School of Medicine, Tel Aviv University since September 2006 and a Professor at the Sackler School of 
Medicine since April 1999. In addition, since 2000 Prof. Loewenstein has been a member of the Advisory 
Board of Notal Vision Ltd., a medical device company in the area of diagnostic ophthalmology, and from 
1996 until 1997 she served as an advisor to Talia Technologies Ltd., which developed an instrument in 
diagnostic ophthalmology. She is the principal investigator in multiple multicenter drug and device studies 
for Pfizer, Novartis, Roche and Zeiss. She is a member of the Institutional Review Board of the Israeli 
Ministry of Health. Prof. Loewenstein holds an M.D. from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem and Masters 
Degree in Health Administration from Tel Aviv University. 



  

PROPOSAL 2—ELECTION OF EXTERNAL DIRECTORS 

Under the Companies Law, companies incorporated under the laws of Israel whose shares are listed on an exchange, including the Nasdaq 
Global Market, are required to appoint at least two external directors. An “external director” is a person meeting certain independence 
requirements under the Israeli Companies Law, including not having, as of the date of the person’s appointment to serve as external Director, or 
during the two years preceding that date, any business or professional relationship or any affiliation, as defined under the Companies Law, with 
the company appointing the external director or any entity/person controlling the company or any entity controlled by the company or by this 
controlling entity/person as of the date of the appointment and during the preceding two years and not having any conflict of interests with the 
company. In addition, every external director appointed to the board of directors of an Israeli company must qualify as a “financial and 
accounting expert” or as “professionally competent,” as such terms are defined in the applicable regulations under the Israeli Companies Law, 
and at least one external director must qualify as a “financial and accounting expert.” 

Each committee of the Company’s Board of Directors is required to include at least one external director and the Company’s Audit 
Committee is required to include both external directors. An external director is entitled to compensation as provided in regulations adopted under 
the Companies Law and is otherwise prohibited from receiving any other compensation, directly or indirectly, in connection with services 
provided as an external director. 

The Company’s external directors are Michael Grobstein and James Cornelius. 
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Nominee  Business Experience

James M. Cornelius  James M. Cornelius, age 63, has served as a director since October 2001 and was elected as an 
external director in December 2001. Mr. Cornelius serves as the Chief Executive Officer and a 
director of Bristol-Myers Squibb. From November 15, 2005 to April 21, 2006, Mr. Cornelius served 
as the chairman of the board of directors and chief executive officer of Guidant Corporation, a 
leading cardiac and vascular medical device company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, until 
the sale of Guidant to Boston Scientific Corporation. From 2000 until 2006, Mr. Cornelius served as 
the non-executive Chairman of the board of directors of Guidant Corporation. From 1994 until 2000, 
Mr. Cornelius served as the Senior Executive and Chairman of Guidant Corporation. From 1983 to 
1994, Mr. Cornelius was a director, a member of the Executive Committee and Chief Financial 
Officer of Eli Lilly and Company. From 1980 to 1982, Mr. Cornelius served as President and Chief 
Executive Officer of IVAC Corporation, formerly part of Eli Lilly’s Medical Device and Diagnostics 
Division, and from 1978 to 1980, Mr. Cornelius was Director of Acquisitions for Eli Lilly’s Medical 
Device and Diagnostics Division. Mr. Cornelius also serves as a director of The DIRECTV Group, 
Inc. Mr. Cornelius holds an M.B.A. and a B.A. in accounting from Michigan State University. 

   



  

The initial term of an outside director is three years and, until recently, external directors could serve a maximum of two terms. Under a 
recent amendment to the Israeli Companies Regulations, an external director may be re-elected to one or more additional three-year terms, if the 
audit committee and afterwards the board of directors have determined that election for additional term or terms benefits the company in light of 
the external director’s expertise and special contribution to the board of directors and it’s committees. The Company’s Audit Committee and 
Board of Directors recommend that the shareholders approve the appointment of Messrs. Grobstein and Cornelius to a third term as external 
directors until December 2010. The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors believe that the appointment of Mr. Grobstein to a third term 
will benefit the Company because of Mr. Grobstein’s strong financial and accounting background and his experience in audit committee 
leadership and financial oversight, including in large U.S. corporations and medical device companies. The Audit Committee and the Board of 
Directors also believe that the appointment of Mr. Cornelius to a third term will benefit the Company because of Mr. Cornelius’s experience as a 
chief executive and director of large U.S. corporations, including corporations in the medical device industry. Mr. Grobstein serves as Chairman 
of our Audit Committee and is our designated financial expert required by U.S. securities laws. Mr. Cornelius serves as Chairman of our 
Compensation and Nominating Committee. The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors believe that both nominees contribute significantly 
to good corporate governance practices and increase confidence of U.S. investors in the Company. 

It is proposed that at the Annual Meeting, the following Resolution be adopted: 

“RESOLVED, that Messrs. Michael Grobstein and James Cornelius are elected as external directors in the Company for a 3 year term until 
December 2010.” 

Election of external directors requires the vote of a majority of the shares represented at the Annual Meeting in person or by proxy, provided 
that either such majority includes (1) the affirmative vote of at least one-third of the shares of non-controlling shareholders voting in person or by 
proxy at the meeting, not including abstentions, or (2) the total number of shares voted against the election of the external directors does not 
exceed one percent (1%) of the aggregate voting rights in the company. Elron, DIC and RDC are controlling shareholders of the Company. 

Based on the declarations of Messrs. Grobstein and Cornelius as to their compliance with the statutory requirements for their re-election as 
external directors and for the reasons described above concerning the contribution, experience and background of these individuals, the 
Company’s Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” this proposal. 

PROPOSAL 3—DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION 

The Company believes that in order to attract and retain dedicated individuals as directors and align their interest with that of the Company’s 
shareholders, it needs to compensate directors with both cash and equity at a level comparable to other publicly traded company with similar 
characteristics. The current level of directors’ cash remuneration has been in effect since 2003 and the current level of equity remuneration has 
been in effect since 2001. The Company believes that an increase of these fees is necessary to reflect the growing responsibilities and work load 
of the non- employee directors due to the growth in the business of the Company, corporate governance  
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Michael Grobstein  Michael Grobstein, age 64, has served as a director since October 2001 and was elected as an external 

director in December 2001. Mr. Grobstein serves as a director of Bristol-Myers Squibb, as chairman 
of its audit committee and a member of its management compensation and development committee. 
Mr. Grobstein served as a director of Guidant Corporation from 1999 to 2006, at which time Guidant 
was acquired by Boston Scientific Corporation. During that period he was chairman of Guidant’s 
audit committee and a member of its corporate governance committee. Mr. Grobstein worked with 
Ernst & Young LLP from 1964 to 1998, and was admitted as a partner in 1975. At Ernst & Young, 
Mr. Grobstein served as a Vice Chairman-International Operations from 1993 to 1998, as Vice 
Chairman-Planning, Marketing and Industry Services from 1987 to 1993, and Vice Chairman-
Accounting and Auditing Services from 1984 to 1987. In these positions, Mr. Grobstein, among other 
things, oversaw the global strategic planning of the firm, was responsible for developing and 
implementing the firm’s worldwide audit service delivery process and consulted with multinational 
corporations on a wide variety of financial reporting matters. Mr. Grobstein is a certified public 
accountant in the United States and holds a B.Sc. in accounting from the University of Illinois. 



  

requirements and the regulatory environment. In addition, the Company believes that such increase is in line with market conditions for attracting 
and retaining qualified individuals to serve on the board of director such as the Board of Directors of the Company. 

The proposed changes to the fee of non-employee directors have been approved by both the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of 
the Company, as required by the Companies Law. These proposed changes to the fee of non-employee directors will apply also to the external 
directors. Under the Companies Law, shareholders must also approve the terms of compensation of the Company’s directors. Accordingly, 
shareholders are being asked to ratify and approve the changes in directors’ fees, as described below. Other directors’ compensation terms, such 
as grant dates, exercise price and vesting of directors’ stock options, were described in previous proxy statements of the Company, including in 
2005 and 2006, were previously approved by the shareholders of the Company and remain unchanged, unless otherwise specifically noted herein. 
The proposed compensation for Nachum Shamir, the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, who is also a director, is discussed in 
Proposal 5. The proposed compensation for Mr. Israel Makov, who will begin serving as the Chairman of the Board of directors following this 
Annual Meeting, is described in Proposal 4. 

It is proposed that each non-employee director of the Company, whether currently in office or hereinafter elected as a director of the 
Company, will receive: 

In addition to the foregoing, any person joining the Board of Directors as a non-employee director as of and at any time after the date of this 
Annual Meeting will receive a retention grant of 35,000 stock options. The grant date of such options will be equal to the closing price of the 
Company’s ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Market on the date such new director is elected to office under applicable law. These options 
will vest in for equal annual installments beginning with the first anniversary of the grant. 

All grants of stock options mentioned above are made under the Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan or any subsequent plan then in effect 
and under other terms and conditions previously approved by the shareholders in respect of equity awards to non-employee directors. The 
Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plans was distributed to shareholders together with the Company’s proxy statement in May 2006, which also 
described the main terms of such plan. This plan was approved by the shareholders in the Annual Meeting held on May 30, 2006. 

It is proposed that at the Annual Meeting, the following Resolution be adopted: 

“RESOLVED that the compensation that each non-employee director of the Company, whether currently in office or hereinafter elected as a 
director of the Company, will receive, as described in this Proxy Statement, be, and hereby is, approved and ratified in all respects.” 

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power represented and voting at the meeting, in person or by proxy, is 
necessary to approve the foregoing changes to the compensation of non-employee directors. 

The Audit Committee and Board of Directors recommend that the shareholders vote “FOR” the foregoing proposed changes to the 
compensation of non-employee directors. 
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(1)
   

an annual cash retainer of $25,000, payable in four quarterly installments of $6,250;  

  

(2)

 

 

 

a fee of $1,500 for each meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee or sub-committee thereof;  

  

(3)

 

 

 

a recurring annual grant of 10,000 stock options for service on the Board of Directors;  

  

(4)

 

 

 

a recurring annual grant of 5,000 stock options for service as a member of each committee or sub-committee of the Board of Directors; 
and 

  

(5)

 

 

 

in addition to the recurring grants referred to in paragraphs (3) and (4) above, each director serving as a chairperson of the Board of 
Directors or any committee or sub-committee thereof, an annual grant of 11,000 stock options.  



  

PROPOSAL 4—ENGAGEMENT TERMS OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Shareholders are being asked to approve the employment and compensation terms of Mr. Israel Makov. Following this Annual Meeting, Mr. 
Makov will begin serving as Chairman of the Board of Directors and will devote 25% of his time to the business of the Company. 

Members of the Compensation and Nominating Committee (the “Compensation Committee”) and the Audit Committee, including the 
external directors, met personally with Mr. Makov. The Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors have 
discussed and approved the proposed terms of Mr. Makov’s employment. Mr. Makov is an experienced and reputable executive in Israel and 
globally, with particular experience in the pharmaceutical industry. Most recently he served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Teva 
Pharmaceuticals Industries Limited (NASDAQ: TEVA), which he joined in 1995. He served as President and Chief Executive Officer from April 
2002 through March 1, 2007. According to Teva’s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2006, during this period, Teva’s 
annual revenues grew from $2.5 billion in 2002 to $8.4 billion in 2006. To the best of our knowledge, the market value of Teva in May 2002 was 
approximately $8.0 billion, and it grew to a market value of approximately $30 billion in March 2007 (#16 in the NASDAQ-100). 

In consideration for his service as a director and Chairman of the Board of Directors, Mr. Makov will receive a monthly payment of NIS 
60,000 (approximately $15,000 as of the date of this proxy statement), subject to adjustment based on the Israeli Consumer Price Index, in lieu of 
any statutory or other typical adjustments. In addition, Mr. Makov will be entitled to pension, disability, study fund, health insurance and other 
benefits in accordance with standard terms of employment in Israel, including a monthly deduction to severance fund in lieu of statutory 
severance. The total monthly contributions required to be made by the Company under all these items is 23.3% of base salary and the total 
contribution by Mr. Makov is 7.5% of base salary. Mr. Makov will be entitled to vacation and sick leave in accordance with standard practices in 
Israel. The Company will reimburse Mr. Makov for all business-related expenses and provide him with directors’ and officers’ insurance 
coverage and indemnification, in accordance with the terms previously approved by the shareholders of the Company. 

In addition, Mr. Makov will be granted options to purchase 580,742 ordinary shares of the Company. The exercise price of these options will 
be equal to the closing price of the ordinary shares on the NASDAQ Global Market on the date of the Annual Meeting and will vest in three 
installments—50% on the second anniversary of the grant and 25% on each of the third and fourth anniversary of the grant. These options may be 
exercised by Mr. Makov at any time during a period beginning with the vesting date and ending four years thereafter. Any options not exercised 
within the exercise period will be forfeited and cancelled. In the event of a “change of control” of the Company, Mr. Makov will be entitled to 
full acceleration of his options, which will then terminate if not exercised within 12 months. “Change of control” is defined as a change in share 
ownership of the Company resulting in a person who is not holding, personally or through financial intermediaries on his behalf, at least 5% of 
the Company’s ordinary shares on the effective date of the agreement owning a number of shares giving him effective control over the business 
of the Company. 

Mr. Makov’s employment agreement contains provisions standard for a firm in the Company’s industry regarding non-competition and 
confidentiality of information. 

Either the Company or Mr. Makov may terminate his employment for any reason upon three months’ prior written notice, in which case Mr. 
Makov is entitled to receive his base salary and benefits payable during the notice period and continued vesting of options during a period of six 
months following termination. Vested options will terminate if not exercised within 12 months after the latest vesting date. Mr. Makov’s 
employment may be terminated by the Company for cause immediately and without any termination-related payments. 

The compensation of Mr. Makov as described above represents the entire compensation that Mr. Makov is entitled to receive from the 
Company. All terms described above are in lieu of the fees (in cash and equity) ordinarily paid to non-employee directors of the Company and 
any payments, including bonus payments, typically paid to employees of the Company. 
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“RESOLVED that the employment and compensation terms of Mr. Israel Makov, as described in this Proxy Statement, be, and they hereby 
are, approved and ratified in all respects.” 

Approval of the compensation and employment terms of the Chairman of the Board of Directors requires the affirmative vote of the holders 
of a majority of the voting power represented at the meeting in person or by proxy, and voting thereon. 

The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors recommend that the shareholders vote “FOR” the approval of the employment agreement 
and compensation terms of the Chairman as described above. 

PROPOSAL 5—COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYMENT TERMS OF THE PRESIDENT 
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Shareholders are being asked to approve the 2007 compensation of Nachum Shamir, our President and Chief Executive Officer, who is also a 
director, as well as amendments to Mr. Shamir’s employment agreement. The original employment agreement of Mr. Shamir was described in the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2006 and was approved 
by the shareholders in the Company’s 2006 Annual Meeting on May 30, 2006. 

The Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors have reviewed the existing employment and compensation 
terms of Mr. Nachum Shamir in light of the improved performance of the Company since Mr. Shamir joined the Company as CEO. Under the 
leadership of Mr. Shamir, the Company has made significant progress in expanding its business globally and introducing new products and 
achieved a number of significant milestones which are expected to be the basis for continued growth. These milestones include receiving 
regulatory clearance in Japan for the PillCam SB capsule, receiving regulatory clearance in the Unites States for the newest generation of the 
PillCam SB capsule and RAPID software, the launching of PillCam Colon in Europe and the cooperation agreement with Fujinon Corporation. 
This improved performance also led to a significant increase in the market price of the Company’s shares. 

At the recommendation of the Compensation Committee and the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors believes that under these 
circumstances it is advisable to amend the CEO contract in order to reward him for his contribution to the success of the Company and to 
encourage his continued employment with the Company. 

CEO Compensation 

For the fiscal year 2007, the Company’s Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors approved for Mr. Shamir 
(1) an annual base salary of $400,000, effective July 1, 2007, (2) a cash bonus of 150% of the annual base salary, subject to the Company 
achieving revenues of $120 million and net income of $9.0 million (without regard and excluding expenses related to a patent litigation the 
Company is conducting in the United States) for the year ending December 31, 2007. If the Company’s performance exceeds these targets, Mr. 
Shamir’s cash bonus will increase to up to 200% of his annual base salary and if the Company’s performance falls short of these targets Mr. 
Shamir’s cash bonus will be lower, and (3) a grant of options to purchase 100,000 ordinary shares of the Company. The exercise price of this 
grant will be equal to the closing price of the ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Market on the date the shareholders approve the grant and it 
will vest in four equal installments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of the grant. This grant is subject to the terms and conditions of 
Mr. Shamir’s employment agreement, as amended, and the Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan approved by the shareholders in the Annual 
Meeting held on May 30, 2006. 

Other Contract Amendments 

In addition to approving the changes in compensation described above, shareholders are requested to approve a number of other amendments 
to Mr. Shamir’s employment agreement approved by the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors. 

Under the amended employment agreement, in the event of a termination of Mr. Shamir by the Company without cause or by Mr. Shamir for 
“good reason” (definition amended to include relocation outside the Atlanta, Georgia area), Mr. Shamir will be entitled to (A) a lump sum  
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payment equal to two times (currently, one time) the sum of (1) his annual base salary, plus (2) his target bonus (currently, bonus is not included 
in severance calculation) for the year of termination (assuming for this purpose that all relevant performance objectives had been met); (B) 
acceleration of vesting of any equity award scheduled to vest during a period of twenty-four (24) months (currently, 12 months) following 
termination; and (C) the value of his accrued and unused vacation days and continuation of benefits, such as health and life insurance policies and 
car allowance, for a period of twenty-four (24) months (currently, 12 months) following termination. 

The employment agreement was amended also to provide that the Company will gross-up any excise tax that may be imposed on Mr. Shamir 
under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, in case payments to him resulting from his termination trigger this tax 
provision. 

In addition, the agreement was amended to provide for full acceleration of all unvested options upon a termination by the Company without 
cause or by Mr. Shamir for “good reason” in connection with a change of control event. Previously, this would have resulted in accelerating 
unvested options that would have become vested during a period of two years following termination relating to a change of control event. 
“Change of control” is defined in the Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, that was approved by the shareholders in May 2006. 

Finally, Mr. Shamir’s employment agreement was amended to provide that the determination of “termination for cause” would be 
determined by a majority of the independent directors (currently, by a majority of the entire Board of Directors). A determination of “cause” 
means that Mr. Shamir may be terminated without any severance payment. 

It is proposed that at the Annual Meeting, the following Resolution be adopted: 

“RESOLVED that the 2007 compensation of the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Nachum Shamir, as described 
in this Proxy Statement, be, and it hereby is, approved and ratified in all respects.” 

RESOLVED, that the amendment to the employment agreement of Mr. Shamir, be, and it hereby is approved and ratified in all respects.” 

Approval of the compensation changes and amendment to the employment agreement of the President and Chief Executive Officer requires 
the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power represented and voting at the meeting, in person or by proxy, and voting 
thereon. 

The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors recommend that the shareholders vote “FOR” the approval of the changes of Mr. Shamir’s 
compensation and employment terms, as described above. 

PROPOSAL 6—INCREASE OF NUMBER OF SHARES RESERVED FOR ISSUANCE 
UNDER THE COMPANY’S 2006 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN 

The Company is submitting for approval an amendment to its 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which will increase the number of 
ordinary shares reserved for issuance under the Plan by an additional 1,500,000 shares. 

The Plan was approved by the shareholders at the 2006 annual meeting held on May 30, 2006. At the time of approval, a total of 2,500,000 
ordinary shares were reserved for issuance under the Plan. As of the Record Date, approximately 1,287,925 shares were available for issuance 
under the Plan. Assuming the option grants proposed in this proxy statement to be made to Mr. Makov and Mr. Shamir are approved by the 
shareholders, then following this annual meeting of shareholders, there will be remaining 607,183 shares reserved for issuance under the Plan, 
without taking into account the increase proposed in this Proposal 6. 

The Board of Directors believes that the Plan is an integral part of the Company’s benefit program and provides a critical incentive for 
qualified directors, officers and employees to join or remain employed by the Company. To be able to attract and retain qualified individuals over 
the next few years, it is necessary to increase the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plan. If shareholders do not approve such 
increase, the Company may not be able to grant options after the end of 2007. If shareholders approve the requested increase, there will be 
2,107,183 shares available for issuance under the Plan immediately following the Annual Meeting. 
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“RESOLVED that the increase of number of ordinary shares for issuance under the Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan by additional 
1,500,000 shares, be, and it hereby is, approved and ratified in all respects.” 

Increasing the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plan requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting 
power represented and voting at the meeting, in person or by proxy. 

The Board of Directors recommends that the shareholders vote “FOR” the approval of the increase in the number of shares reserved for 
issuance under the Plan. 

PROPOSAL 7—APPROVAL OF A REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE COMPANY AND CERTAIN AFFILIATED SHAREHOLDERS 

In December 2006, the Company’s Audit Committee and Board of Directors approved a proposed Registration Rights Agreement among the 
Company, Elron, DIC and RDC. Elron, DIC and RDC own an aggregate of 43.9% of the ordinary shares of the Company and are collectively 
referred to in this Proxy Statement as the “affiliated shareholders.” This Registration Rights Agreement is intended to replace earlier registration 
rights granted by the Company to Elron, DIC, RDC, entities affiliated with OrbiMed Capital LLC and other shareholders in connection with a 
private placement completed in September 2000, before the Company’s initial public offering. These earlier registration rights expired in October 
2006. 

The Board of Directors believes that this agreement is necessary to protect the market for the Company’s ordinary shares. During 2006 and 
first half of 2007 the affiliated shareholders demonstrated their commitment to the Company by increasing their ownership level by purchasing 
additional shares in the open market. The proposed Registration Rights Agreement provides the affiliated shareholders means for liquidity that 
are otherwise not available to them under applicable law given their ownership level. At the same time, it increases the likelihood that a sale by 
the affiliated shareholders will be coordinated with the Company and not disrupt the ordinary activity in the market for the Company’s shares due 
to the sale of a large number of shares at one time or during a short period. 

The main terms of the proposed registration rights agreement are as follows: 

Demand Registration Rights 

At the request of one or more of the affiliated shareholders holding at least 5% of the Company’s then outstanding ordinary shares, the 
Company must use its best efforts to register any or all of these shareholders’ ordinary shares on the condition that the minimum aggregate 
offering price of the shares to be registered is at least $15 million. The Company must also give notice of the registration to other affiliated 
shareholders and include in the registration any ordinary shares that they request to include. This registration also may include ordinary shares 
offered by the Company for its own account and by directors and officers of the Company. The Company may only be requested to carry out two 
of these demand registrations. 

In connection with any such demand registration, the managing underwriter may limit the number of shares offered for marketing reasons. In 
such case, the managing underwriter must exclude first any shares to be registered by the Company for its own account and, second, any shares to 
be registered by the Company’s directors and officers. Thereafter, the shares to be registered by the affiliated shareholders would be reduced pro 
rata among the affiliated shareholders requesting inclusion of their shares according to the number of shares held by each of them. 

Incidental Registration Rights 

The affiliated shareholders also have the right to request that the Company includes their ordinary shares in any registration statements filed 
by the Company in the future for the purposes of a public offering, subject to specified limitations. The managing underwriter may limit the 
number of shares offered for marketing reasons. In this case, the managing underwriter must exclude first any shares to be registered by the 
Company, unless the Company initiated the registration, second the shares that the affiliated shareholders have requested to include in the 
registration, and third the shares of the party initiating the registration. 
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Form F-3 Registration Rights 

At the request of an affiliated shareholder, the Company must make its best efforts to register such shareholder’s ordinary shares on Form F-
3. The Company must also give notice of the registration to other affiliated shareholders to whom the Company has granted registration rights and 
include in the registration any ordinary shares they request to include. These demand rights may only be exercised if nine months have passed 
since the last registration that the Company filed in which the affiliated shareholder requesting registration was entitled to include its shares. The 
minimum aggregate offering price of the shares to be registered is $15 million, in case of an underwritten offering, or $5.0 million, in case of a 
non-underwritten offering. The managing underwriter may limit the number of shares offered for marketing reasons. In such case, the rights of 
each shareholder to include its ordinary shares in the registration are allocated in the same manner as in a demand registration described above. 

Termination 

All registration rights will expire on the fifth anniversary of the agreement. With respect to any shareholder, registration rights will expire if 
that shareholder can sell all of its ordinary shares within a 90 day period under Rule 144 under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended. 

Expenses 

Generally, the Company will pay all expenses incurred in carrying out the above registrations, as well as the fees and expenses of one legal 
counsel for the selling shareholders in each registration. 

“RESOLVED that the Registration Rights Agreement among the Company, Elron Electronic Industries Ltd., Discount Investment 
Corporation Ltd. and Rafael Development Corporation Ltd. (all of which are controlling shareholders of the Company), as described in this Proxy 
Statement, be, and hereby is, approved.” 

Since the affiliated shareholders are considered controlling shareholders under the Companies Law, the approval of this Registration Rights 
Agreement requires the vote of a majority of the shares present at the meeting, provided that either such majority includes (1) the affirmative vote 
of at least one-third of the shares of shareholders who do not have a personal interest in the subject matter of the proposed resolution, voting in 
person or by proxy, not including abstention votes, or (2) the total number of shares voted against the approval by shareholders who do not have a 
personal interest in the subject matter of the proposed resolutions, does not exceed one percent (1%) of the aggregate voting rights in the 
company. Elron, DIC and RDC are controlling shareholders of the Company. 

The Company’s Audit Committee and Board of Directors recommend a vote “FOR” this proposal. 

PROPOSAL 8—INCREASE OF COVERAGE AMOUNT UNDER THE COMPANY’S 
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE 

Shareholders are being asked to approve an increase of the maximum coverage amount under the Company’s directors’ and officers’ (D&O) 
insurance from $30 million per year to up to $50 million per year. 

In connection with the Company’s initial public offering in October 2001, shareholders approved the purchase by the Company of a D&O 
insurance with a coverage limit of $30 million, as long as the cost of such insurance does not exceed $700,000. Since 2001, these limits remained 
unchanged. However, during this period, the risks faced by directors and officers of public companies increased substantially, particularly 
following the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 in the United States, which has resulted in tightened governmental regulation of 
corporate governance practices. Increased focus on corporate governance also exists in Israel and other jurisdictions in which the Company 
operates. 

In addition, there are greater risks to the directors and officers as a result of the growth in the business of the Company. In 2001, the 
Company was just beginning sales of its first and then-only product, the PillCam SB capsule, in the United States. Today, the Company is 
operating in over 60  
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countries organized into three primary regions and selling the PillCam Platform that includes three types of capsules with expected revenues in 
2007 of $114 to $119 million. 

Due to the increased regulatory and business risks faced by the Company, the Board of Directors believes it is appropriate to increase the 
maximum coverage amount of the D&O policy to up to $50 million, as long as the maximum premium does not exceed $1.0 million. 

Accordingly, it is proposed that the shareholders approve the following resolution: 

RESOLVED, that the Company may purchase a directors’ and officers’ insurance policy subject to any limitations that may exist under 
applicable law, with a maximum coverage amount of $50 million (the “Maximum Amount”) and that the directors and officers of the Company 
are authorized, subject to further resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company, to purchase in the future any extensions, renewals or 
replacement policies for any coverage amount up to the Maximum Amount as long as the premium for such insurance policies does not exceed 
$1.0 million, without further approval by the shareholders. 

An affirmative vote of a majority of the shares represented and voting at the meeting, in person or by proxy, is required for the approval of 
the foregoing resolution. 

The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors recommend that the shareholders vote “FOR” the approval of the foregoing resolution 
concerning the purchase of directors’ and officers’ insurance coverage. 

PROPOSAL 9—APPOINTMENT OF SOMEKH CHAIKIN, A MEMBER OF KPMG INTERNATIONAL, AS THE COMPANY’S 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS UNTIL THE NEXT ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND AUTHORIZATION OF THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS TO DETERMINE COMPENSATION 

The Company is submitting for approval the appointment of Somekh Chaikin, a member of KPMG International (“KPMG”), as its 
independent auditors to audit the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for fiscal year 2007 and to serve as its 
independent auditors until the next annual general meeting, and the authorization of the Company’s Audit Committee and Board of Directors to 
determine their remuneration. 

The following table sets forth fees for professional audit services rendered by Somekh Chaikin, a member firm of KPMG International, for 
the audit of our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, and fees billed for other services rendered by Somekh 
Chaikin, including through other offices of KPMG worldwide: 
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 2005  2006

 

 (in thousands)

Audit fees  
 

$
 

309   
 

$
 

316  

Audit-related fees  
 

 401   
 

 24  

Tax fees  
 

 114   
 

 67  

All other fees  
 

 92   
 

 162  
      

Total  
 

$
 

916   
 

$
 

569  

The Company’s Audit Committee pre-approved all audit and non-audit services provided to the Company and its subsidiaries during the 
periods listed above. 

Representatives of KPMG will not be present at the Annual Meeting. 

It is proposed that at the Annual General Meeting, the following Resolution be adopted: 

“RESOLVED, that the Company’s independent auditors, Somekh Chaikin, a member of KPMG International be, and they hereby are, 
reappointed as independent auditors of the Company to audit the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for fiscal 
year 2007 and to serve as its independent auditors until the next annual general meeting of the Company and that the  
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(1)
   

“Audit-related fees” in 2005 and 2006 consists principally on advice regarding U.S. sales tax. 

  

(2)

 

 

 

“Tax fees” includes fees for professional services rendered by our auditors for tax compliance and tax advice on actual or contemplated 
transactions.  

  

(3)

 

 

 

“All other fees” includes fees related to advice on international transfer prices and compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley Act requirements. 



  

Audit Committee and Board of Directors be, and hereby are authorized to determine the remuneration of said auditors.” 

An affirmative vote of a majority of the shares represented and voting at the meeting, in person or by proxy, is required for the appointment 
of KPMG as the Company’s independent auditors until the next Annual General Meeting, and for the authorization of the Company’s Board of 
Directors to determine KPMG’s remuneration. 

The Audit Committee has recommended (which recommendation was adopted by the Board of Directors) the selection of the Company’s 
independent auditors, subject to shareholder approval. 

Accordingly, the Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” this proposal. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

The Audit Committee is comprised solely of independent directors, as defined by the rules of the SEC and the Nasdaq Global Market, and 
operates under a written charter, a copy of which is attached to this Proxy Statement. 

The Audit Committee includes at least one independent director who is determined by the Board of Directors to meet the qualifications of an 
“audit committee financial expert” in accordance with SEC rules. Michael Grobstein is the independent director who has been determined to be 
an audit committee financial expert. Shareholders should understand that this designation is an SEC disclosure requirement related to Mr. 
Grobstein’s experience and understanding with respect to certain accounting and auditing matters. The designation does not impose on Mr. 
Grobstein any duties, obligations or liability that are greater than are generally imposed on him as a member of the Audit Committee and the 
Board of Directors, and his designation as an audit committee financial expert pursuant to this SEC requirement does not affect the duties, 
obligations or liability of any other member of the Audit Committee or the Board of Directors. 

The primary focus of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in its general oversight of the Company’s financial reporting, 
internal controls and audit function. Management has the primary responsibility for preparation, presentation and integrity of the Company’s 
financial statements, accounting and financial reporting principles, internal controls and procedures designed to ensure compliance with 
applicable accounting standards, and applicable laws and regulations. The Company’s independent auditor is responsible for performing an 
independent audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in the United States. 
Members of the Audit Committee are not auditors, and their functions are not intended to duplicate or certify the activities of management and 
the independent auditor, nor can the Audit Committee certify that the independent auditor is “independent” under applicable rules. 

In this context, the Audit Committee has met and held discussions with management, the Company’s internal auditor and the independent 
auditor. Management represented to the Audit Committee that the audited financial statements of the Company, included in the Company’s 
Annual Report to Shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2006, were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States, and the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the consolidated financial statements with management, the 
internal auditor and the independent auditor. The Audit Committee discussed with the independent auditor the matters required to be discussed by 
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, “Communication with Audit Committees.” The Audit Committee’s discussions with the internal and 
independent auditor were held both with and without management present, and included the scope of their respective audits, their evaluation of 
the Company’s internal controls and the overall quality of the Company’s financial reporting. 

In addition, the Audit Committee has discussed with the independent auditor the auditor’s independence from management and the 
Company, including the matters in the written disclosures required by the Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, “Independence 
Discussions with Audit Committees,” and approved the fees for audit, audit-related and non-audit services provided by the independent auditor, 
and evaluated the types of non-audit services performed, including whether or not those services were compatible with the independent auditor’s 
independence. 

Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors, and the Board of 
Directors approved, that the audited consolidated financial  
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statements be included in the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2006, as filed with the SEC. The Audit Committee 
has recommended (which recommendation was adopted by the Board of Directors) the selection of the Company’s independent auditor, subject 
to shareholder approval. 

Submitted by the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors: 

Michael Grobstein, Chairman 
James M. Cornelius 
Eyal Lifschitz 

PROPOSALS OF SHAREHOLDERS 

Any shareholder of the Company who intends to present a proposal at the Company’s annual meeting of shareholders in 2008 must satisfy 
the requirements of the Israeli Companies Law in order to have a proposal presented thereat. Under the Israeli Companies Law, only shareholders 
who severally or jointly hold at least one percent (1%) of the Company’s outstanding voting rights are entitled to request that the Board of 
Directors of the Company include a proposal, in a future shareholders meeting, provided that such proposal is appropriate to be discussed in such 
meeting. 

With respect to the Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held in 2008, if the Company is not provided with notice of a 
shareholder proposal for inclusion in the Company’s Proxy Statement by January 31, 2008, the Company will not include such proposal in the 
agenda for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

At the Company’s Annual Meeting, the Board of Directors will provide a management report which will include a discussion of the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006. 

OTHER BUSINESS 

The Board of Directors of the Company is not aware of any other matters that may be presented at the Annual Meeting other than those 
mentioned in the attached Company’s Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. If any other matters do properly come before the 
Annual Meeting, it is intended that the persons named as proxies will vote, pursuant to their discretionary authority, according to their best 
judgment in the interest of the Company. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Copies of the Company’s 2006 Annual Report to shareholders are being mailed to shareholders whose shares were acquired through the 
Nasdaq Global Market simultaneously with this Proxy Statement. The Company also filed an Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 
2006 on Form 20-F with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2007. In addition, the Company filed a number of press releases 
and transcripts of its investor conference calls on Form 6-K, including a Form 6-K dated May 7, 2007 regarding its business and financial results 
for the first quarter ending March 31, 2007. Shareholders may obtain a copy of these documents without charge at www.givenimaging.com. 

Yoqneam, Israel 
Date: June 21, 2007 
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   By Order of the Board of Directors, 

   

   Doron Birger

   Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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Appendix I 

 

 

 

 

 

  

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD JULY 18, 2007 

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF GIVEN IMAGING LTD. 

          The undersigned hereby appoints Doron Birger, Nachum Shamir, Yuval Yanai and Ido Warshavski and each or
any of them, proxies of the undersigned, with full power of substitution to vote all of the shares of Given Imaging Ltd.,
an Israeli company (the "Company"), which the undersigned may be entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of
shareholders of the Company to be held at the Company’s head offices at the Hermon Building, New Industrial Park,
Yoqneam 20692, Israel, on Wednesday, July 18, 2007, at 16:00 (local time) or at any adjournment or postponement
thereof, as shown on the voting side of this card. 

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. PLEASE SIGN AND DATE THE OTHER SIDE OF THIS CARD 

(Continued and to be signed on the reverse side) 
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ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS OF 

GIVEN IMAGING LTD. 

July 18, 2007 

  

  

  

  

Please date, sign and mail 
your proxy card in the 

envelope provided as soon 

as possible. 

  

 Please detach along perforated line and mail in the envelope provided.  

 

  
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS AND “FOR” PROPOSALS 2 THROUGH 9. 

PLEASE SIGN, DATE AND RETURN PROMPTLY IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE. PLEASE MARK YOUR VOTE IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS SHOWN HERE ⌧ 
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  FOR   AGAINST   ABSTAIN

1.   To elect the nominees listed below to serve as directors of the Company
until the next annual general meeting of sharesholders. 

2.   To reelect James Cornelius and Michael Grobstein to serve as 
external directors, as defined in the Israeli Companies Law, 1999, 
for a 3 year term until December 2010. 

Under the Israeli Companies law, 1999 you are required to 
indicate, regarding proposal 2, whether or not you are a 
“Controlling Person” or act on behalf of a “Controlling Person”. A 
"Controlling Person" is a person who has the power to direct the 
activities of the Company, other than merely due to such person's 
service as a director or officer of the Company. 

PLEASE STATE WHETHER OR NOT YOU ARE A 
“CONTROLLING PERSON” OR ACT ON BEHALF OF A 
“CONTROLLING PERSON”.

   

  NOMINEES: 

 FOR ALL NOMINEES O   Mr. Doron Birger  

  O   Prof. Anat Leowenstein                 
 WITHHOLD AUTHORITY          

       FOR ALL NOMINEES O   Mr. Israel Makov YES NO

O   Mr. Arie Mientkavich  
  

  O   Mr. Nachum Shamir 

 FOR ALL EXCEPT O   Mr. Dennert O. Ware 

3.   To approve the compensation of non-employee directors of the 
Company, whether currently in office or hereinafter elected as a 
director of the Company.

   

       (See instructions below)  

   
4.   To approve the employment agreement and compensation terms 

of the Chairman of the Board of Directors.
   

  

  

5.   To approve the 2007 compensation and amendments to the 
employment contract of the President and Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company, Mr. Nachum Shamir.

   

  

  
6.   To approve an increase of the number of ordinary shares reserved 

for issuance under the Company's 2006 Equity Incentive Plan.    

 

 

7.   To approve the Registration Rights Agreement among the 
Company, Elron Electronic Industries Ltd., Discount Investment 
Corporation Ltd. and Rafael Development Corporation Ltd. (all of 
which are affiliates of the Company).

   

 
INSTRUCTION:  To withhold authority to vote for any individual nominee(s),

mark “FOR ALL EXCEPT” and fill in the circle next to each

nominee you wish to withhold, as shown here:    

Under the Israeli Companies law, 1999 you are required to indicate whether or not you have a
personal interest in the resolution described in this proposal 7 which shall include the personal
interest of any of your relatives or any entity in which you or any of your relatives: 

 

z holds 5% or more of the issued and outstanding share capital or voting rights, or 

z has the power to appoint one or more directors or a general manager (which in Israel is the

equivalent of a president in the United States) , or 

z is a director or a general manager. 

An interest resulting merely from the holding of the company's shares shall not be deemed to
be a personal interest. 

IF YOU FAIL TO INDICATE WHETHER OR NOT YOU HAVE A PERSONAL INTEREST IN
THE RESOLUTION DESCRIBED IN PROPOSAL 7, YOUR SHARES WILL NOT BE VOTED
AND YOUR VOTE WILL NOT BE COUNTED FOR SUCH RESOLUTION. 

 YES NO

 

PLEASE STATE WHETHER OR NOT YOU HAVE A 
PERSONAL INTEREST IN THE RESOLUTION DESCRIBED IN 
THIS PROPOSAL 7.

  



 

 

 

8.   To approve an increase in the maximum coverage amount under 
the Company's directors' and officers' insurance policy from $ 30 
million to $ 50 million.

   

      

To change the address on your account, please check the box at right and
indicate your new address in the address space above. Please note that
changes to the registered name(s) on the account may not be submitted via
this method. 

     

9.   To reappoint the Company's independent auditors, Somekh 
Chaikin, a member of KPMG International, as the Company's 
independent auditors until the next annual general meeting and to 
authorize the Company's board of directors to determine their 
remuneration.

   

  
Signature of Shareholder       Date:     Signature of Shareholder      Date:   

 
Note: Please sign exactly as your name or names appear on this Proxy. When shares are held jointly, each holder should sign. When signing as executor, administrator,

attorney, trustee or guardian, please give full title as such. If the signer is a corporation, please sign full corporate name by duly authorized officer, giving full title as such. 
If signer is a partnership, please sign in partnership name by authorized person.

 


